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VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: We're on the record.

This is Case Number 2014-00225. By agreement, we're
going to do the first part of the case just as we do
all FAC cases, so we're swearing in folks as a
panel, and so let's have appearances of counsel,
please.

Mr. Overstreet.

MR. OVERSTREET: Thank you, Mr. Vice-Chairman.
My name is Mark Overstreet with the law firm of
Stites & Harbison, 421 West Main Street, Frankfort,
Kentucky 40601. Appearing with me here today but
not in connection with the panel is Kenneth Gish,
Stites & Harbison, 250 West Main Street, Suite 2300,
Lexington, Kentucky 40507.

VICE-CHATIR GARDNER: Thank you.

General.

MR. COOK: Good afterncon. On behalf of the
Attorney General, Lawrence Cook. My cocounsel,
Jennifer Hans and Greg Dutton, 1024 Capital Center
Drive, Frankfort, Kentucky.

VICE-CHATR GARDNER: Mr. Kurtz.

MR. KURTZ: Your Honor, for KIUC, Mike Kurtz,
Kurt Boehm, Jody Cohn, Boehm, Kurtz & Lowry, 1510
URS Center, Cincinnati, Ohio. KIUC participating

members in this particular intervention are Marathon

McLENDON~-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634
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Ashland, AK Steel, Air Products, EQT Natural Gas.

I'm drawing a -- I believe that's -- that's -- and
maybe perhaps -- and Air Liquide I think as well.
Thank you.

VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: Thank you.

MR. PINNEY: On behalf of the Commission,
J.E.B. Pinney, Richard Raff, Quang Nguyen from the
Office of General Counsel. Also Chris Whelan,
Matthew Baer, and Leah Faulknef from the
Department -- Division of Financial Analysis.

VICE~CHAIR GARDNER: Thank you. Has notice
been given?

MR. OVERSTREET: Yes, Your Honor, notice has
been given. It was filed of record on November 5th.

VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: Okay. Great. Thank
you. Are there‘any pending motions?

MR. OVERSTREET: Yes, Your Honor. In
addition to several motions for confidential
treatment, Kentucky Power, in accordance with the
Commission's regulation, has requested leave for --
to have the proceeding stenographically transcribed,
and the Commission hasn't had an opportunity to rule
on that motion yet, so I spoke with Mr. Pinney
before the hearing began and he said I would not be

presuming to have Ms. Kogut appear and transcribe

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

the proceedings even though the Commission has not
had a chance to rule yet.

VICE-CHATR GARDNER: Okay.

MR. COOK: No objection to that motion.

VICE-CHATIR GARDNER: Any objection?

Okay. We'll go ahead and grant your motion
for that.

MR. OVERSTREET: Thank you.

VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: Sure. Anything else?

MR. OVERSTREET: That's all we have pending,
Your Honor.

VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: Okay. This time is for
public comment. Again, this is Case Number
2014-225, Fuel Adjustment Clause proceeding for
Kentucky Power. Is there any member of the public
who would like to be heard?

Seeing none, Mr. Overstreet call your first
witness.

MR. OVERSTREET: Thank you, Mr. Vice-Chalrman.

Appearing today as part of the panel, to my
immediate right is Charles West. To my immediate
left is John Rogness. To his left is Dan Moyer, and
to his left is Aaron Sink. Mr. Sink is the plant
manager of the Big Sandy plant, Mr. Moyer is the

plant manager of the Mitchell plant, Mr. Rogness is

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634
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with Kentucky Power, and then Mr. West is with the
Service Corp. and he handles fuel procurement.

VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: Thank you. Each of
you—-all who are going to testify if you would stand
and raise your right hand, please.

* * *

CHARLES WEST, JOHN ROGNESS, DON MOYER, AND
AARON SINK, called by Kentucky Power, having been
first duly sworn as a panel, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION

By Mr. Overstreet:
Q. Mr. West, did you cause to be filed in the
record of this proceeding certain responses to data
requests?

MR. WEST: I did.
0. And do you have any corrections or changes to
those responses?

MR. WEST: No, I do not.
Q. And 1f you were asked those questions today,
would your answers be the same?

MR. WEST: They would.
Q. And, Mr. Rogness, did you cause to be filed
in the record of this proceeding certain responses
to data requests?

MR. ROGNESS: I did.

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634
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Q. Have you had any change -- corrections or.
changes to those responses?

MR. ROGNESS: I do not.
0. Mr. Moyer, did you cause to be filed in the
record of this proceeding certain responses to data
requests?

MR. MOYER: I did.
Q. And do you have any corrections or changes?

MR. MOYER: No, I do not.
Q. And if you were asked those same questions
here today, would your answers be the same?

MR. MOYER: Yes, they would.
Q. And, Mr. Sink, did you cause to be filed in
the record of this proceeding certain responses to
data requests?

MR. SINK: I did.
Q. And do you have any corrections or changes?

MR. SINK: No, sir.
0. And if asked the same questions, would your
answers be the same?

MR. SINK: Yes, they would.

MR. OVERSTREET: Witnesses are available for
cross-examination.

VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: Okay.

MR. COOK: Your Honor, if I would, by

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634
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agreement of counsel, we are going to allow KIUC to
proceed first.

MR. KURTZ: No questions for the panel.

MR. COOK: No questions.:

CROSS~-EXAMINATION

By Mr. Pinney:
Q. Good afternoon.

MR. WEST: Good afternoon.
Q. Please refer to the response to Item 1 of the
first Commission Staff data request. And in
Kentucky Power's two previous FAC cases, which were
cases 2013-444 and 2013-261, there were no spot
purchases shown, but in response to Item 1 of the
first data request, it shows that there are
79 percent contract purchases and 21 percent spot
purchases.

Now, 1s the increase in spot purchases due to
the upcoming retirement of Big Sandy Unit 1 -- or 2
and the conversion of 17

MR. WEST: In ~- yes, in general. One, with
Mitchell now on board, we tend to do a few more spot
purchases on the Mitchell side than we did at Big
Sandy, but even at Big Sandy, the burn there is --
over time we have found that the burn has been very

unpredictable, and so we tend to buy to the low end

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634
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to where we think the burn is going to be with
elither longer term or at least one-year deals or
longer, and then we f£ill in with spot purchases as
the burn actually takes place. And we saw that
definitely in 2014, where we were projecting a much
lower forecast burn at the start of the year than
what we actually ended gp getting.

MR. OVERSTREET: Mr. Pinney, may I interrupt
to remind the witnesses to identify themselves --

MR. WEST: Oh.

MR. OVERSTREET: -~ when they speak --

MR. WEST: I apologize.

MR. OVERSTREET: -~ as a member of the panel.

MR. WEST: Thank you.
0. Okay. Then I draw your attention to the
response to Item 8, the first data request. And
page 1 of 3, the Ohio Valley Resources contract.
The response shows that the term of this contract is
January 1, 2007, to December 31st, 2021, but the
information you provided is only for 2014. So is
the reason the information for years 2007 through
2013 not —-- the reason it's not shown 1is because the
contract is for the Mitchell Station?

MR. WEST: That contract -- well, Chuck West,

or Charles West responding.

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634
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That contract is for the Mitchell Station.

Q. And it shows that Kentucky Power has only
received 16 percent of the annual requirements under
the contract for 2014. What is the status of this
contract?

MR. WEST: And Charles West responding.

That contract -- we are a little behind on
that contract as of today's date, and -- but we plan
to carry over a significant amount of tonnagé into
next year, probably up to 400,000.tons.

Q. Okay. The first -- the same response, but
page 3 of 3. And referring to the first Southern
Coal Sales contract, the response says only

49 percent of the annual requirements were received

.in 2013.

Does Kentucky Power expect to make up the
shortfall?

MR. WEST: Charles West responding.

We did provide -- you -- I'm sorry. You said
the 2 -- you were talking about the 2013 tonnage
of --
Q. Right. Only 49 percent --
MR. WEST: Yeah.
Q. -— was met.

MR. WEST: We did allow -- provide Southern

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634
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with the opportunity to make up as much of those
tons as they could in -- during the year. We don't
think they're going to‘get it all made up, but we
gave them the opportunity to.
0. Okay. And that shortage didn't lead to any
operational difficulties or shortfalls, did it?

MR. WEST: Charles West responding.

No, we were able to fill in with spot

purchases.
Q. Okay. And please refer to the response --
and to follow up, you said you made -- you had spot

purchases to make up for the shortfall in the
contract purchases.
Were the prices for the spot purchases more

than what the contract purchase price would have

been?

MR. WEST: Charles West responding.

Yes, the price of the spot coal is actually
lower than the -- than the contract. The price has

gone down over the last year, so —--

Q. All right. Now take -- please take a look at
the response to Item Number 9 of the first data
request, page 2 of 2. And the response states that
in comparison, in the table at the bottom of the

page, "Kentucky Power has the second lowest fuel

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634
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costs for the review period."

However, taking a look at the table,
Kentucky -- is there a utility missing from the
comparison or should the responses say that Kentucky
Power had the lowest fuel costs in comparison for
the review period?

MR. WEST: I'm not -- could you restate that?
I missed the utilities -- is there a utility
missing, you asked?
0. Well, there is -- it says, "In this
comparison, Kentucky Power has the second lowest
fuel costs for the review period on" -~ compared to,
I think -- on a cents per million British Thermal
Units basis.

MR. WEST: Correct.
Q. You have the table at the top and the table
at the bottom. And is there a utility missing from
the comparison or should the responses state that
Kentucky has the lowest fuel cost in comparison for
the review period?

MR. WEST: Okay. So I'm little a confused.
I show AEP Generation Resources at the bottom as the
lowest cost.

MR. OVERSTREET: May I shdw him the response,

Mr. Pinney?

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634
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Q. It's -—- I do not show a —--
MR. OVERSTREET: Yeah, that's why I wanted to
show him the response.

MR. PINNEY: Okay. Yes, please. Sorry.

MR. WEST: Okay. I have -- yes, there 1is
a -—- I guess a utility got dropped off in the -- in
the -- my table shows AEP Generation Resources as

the bottom utility, with a cost of 262.12.

MR. PINNEY: Would you-all be able to provide
that post hearing?

MR. OVERSTREET: Absolutely. And I
apologize.

MR. PINNEY: All right. Thank you.

Q. All right. Please refer to the response to
Item 11 of the first data request, and specifically
11 b., page 2 of 2. And there the Mitchell plant is
shown as having 155,840 tons of high-sulfur coal and
243,973 tons of low-sulfur coal.

Can you confirm that these totals are for the
Mitchell plant as a whole and not Kentucky Power's
share of the coal?

MR. WEST: Charles West responding.

That's correct. It's for the Mitchell. We
track the inventory for the whole plant.

Q. And then same response, same page, but

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

17

subsection c¢. The response shows a target inventory
of 15 days for Mitchell high-sulfur coal, but
30 days for Mitchell low-sulfur coal.

Can you explain why there are different
target inventory dates based on the fuel type?

MR. WEST: Inventory -- yes. Charles West
responding.

The target inventory days were established by
our FSTG Committee, which looks at all the different
types of coal we take into each plant, what the
potential delays are, you know, the supply delays
and transportation delays, and takes that all into
contract when they determine the target inventory
for each one of the -- one of the coal piles.

The high-sulfur pile itself, the mine is
right next to the plant and the coal 1is just
conveyored, 1s shipped over on a conveyor belt from
the mine directly into the plant, so it's a very
reliable source, and as a backup, if anything does
happen to the mine or the conveyor belt, we can
always bring in barge coal when we need to. So the
reliability of that supplyiis very, very high,
because there's a lot of -- even though the one mine
right next door could have a problem, there are

about four or five mines right in the area that we

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634
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can take coal from, even under the same contract,
because they are all owned by the same supplier.
Low-sulfur coal, of course, most of 1t comes
off either Kanawha River or the Big Sandy River, and
you have a lot more potential transportation
problems, as we saw earlier this year, in the --
during the cold weather in the first three months of
the year. I won't call it a polar vortex, I think
that one's -- but the first three months of the year
we had a lot of transportation problems getting the
low-sulfur coal up to the Kanawha River and up to
that section of the river, so the supply has a lot
more potential disruptions. That's why it has a
much higher target inventory level.
0. In Case Number 2013-430 the Commission
approved Kentucky Power's request to convert Big
Sandy Unit 1 to a natural gas—fired facility.
What -- can you give us an update on the
status of the project and expected completion date.
MR. WEéT: Aaron, do you want to give that?
MR. SINK: Yes, sir. Aaron Sink responding.
The project is currently in the engineering
and design phase with a scheduled completion of
May 31st, 2016.

0. Okay. And still referring to the response to

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

19

the Commission's first data request, but item 20.
The response states that the reason Oral
Solicitation Number 2 was not written was because,
and I guote, "Rail was unavailable at the time, so
all suppliers who were known to have crushed coal
deliverable by truck were solicited,™ end quote.

Kentucky Power was asked in its last FAC
hearing whether it receives coal deliveries by rail
at Big Sandy. The response was that it did not
receive coal by rail in 2013 and there was some work
needed on the rail line.

When this response states that rail was
unavailable, does it meén that that work at the Big
Sandy plant that was needed to repair it and that

was referenced in the last FAC hearing had not been

performed?
MR. WEST: That's correct. The rail -- there
was pretty minor repair needed on the rail. We had

a set of cars there at the time that we could

have -- we could have gotten moved, but the reality
was the price of rail coal was really out of the
money at the time, so until -- what we did is, until
rail coal got low enough that it was a player into
the plant and the cost would be lower than the truck

coal, we didn't -- we didn't bother doing any of the

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634
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repair work on the tracks. Since then we've
actually gone and repaired the tracks and have taken
some rail coal in there.

Q. And I'think I can ask this following gquestion
without having to go into confidential session, but
refer -- I want to refer to the confidential
response to this question, Attachments 1 and 2.
Attachment 1 shows the bid analysis for coal for the
Mitchell Station and attachment shows shows --
Attachment 2 shows the bid analysis for coal for Big
Sandy. Is that correct?

MR. WEST: Yes, that's -~ Charles West
responding.

That 1s correct.

Q. And if that is the case, the response shows
that the coal solicited for the Big Sandy station
was cheaper than that for the Mitchell Station. And
is 1t unusual for the Big Sandy coal to be cheaper
than the Mitchell's -- Mitchell coal?

MR. WEST: Charles West responding.

It's not necessarily unusual. They both --
it's both very similar types of coal. We request --
coal into the Big Sandy plant is-obviously trucked
in, and it's priced off the same general index that

the Mitchell low-sulfur coal is priced off. That --

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634
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the low-sulfur coal, though, has to have barges or
it has to be barged from Kanawha River all the way
up the Ohio River, so your transportation rate is
typically a little higher than the trucked coal down
at Big Sandy.

Q. And then skipping back, referring to the
response to Item 4, the Commission Staff's first
data request, and that show -~ the response shows
the capacity factor of 65.04 percent for the
Mitchell Station from January through April of 2014.

Is that capacity factor typical for the
Mitchell Station?

MR. MOYER: This is Dan Moyer responding for
that.

It's typical to the low side. It would
generally be just a little higher than that.

0. Okay. And then why? Why would it be
typically higher?

MR. MOYER: We had a number of outages
through that period that would have driven that down
for the capacity factor with -- and I think they
were all in the reporting as well.

Q. Okay. Were they more forced or planned
outages?

MR. MOYER: Forced.

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634
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0. Okavy. Please refer to Item 7 of The same
response to the data requests, and I am looking at
page 1 of 4. That shows that Big Sandy Unit 1
experienced a planned outage in November lasting
three weeks for repair of the boiler and

precipitator. The following April the same unit

‘experienced a forced outage lasting almost two weeks

and was listed for the same repair.

What was the issue in April, and was it
related to something that was not repaired during
the November outage?®?

MR. SINK: Aaron Sink responding.

It was just a continuation of the same
repalrs that were made in the November outage,
nothing that was unresolved from that first outage
in November.

Q. Okay. And then refer to page 3 of 4 of the
same response. There are several outages shown as
LP turbine bearing vibration for Mitchell Unit 1.

In February there was a 384 planned outage -- hour
planned outage for turbine bearing inspection and

repair.

Did this repair fix the problem or have there
been other bearing vibration problems since the

repair?

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634
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MR. MOYER: This is Dan Moyer responding,
first.

Yes, i1t did fix the problem, and it's been
repaired since then completed.

Q. So now I ask to turn to Kentucky Power's
responses to Commission Staff's third data request,
and particularly the response to 1 c.

The response states,_"Upon review and
analysis the Company agrees that iﬁs earlier
understanding of the EKPC Orders referenced in
subpart (a) was mistaken.".

So, given this statement, does Kentucky Power
believe that $83,721 in purchased power costs should
be disallowed for the period under review as this
was the total that was identified by Kentucky Power
in response to Item 8 b. (3) of this -- to the
response to the third data request, meaning that
that amount exceeded the amount of what had been
recovered using the equivalent peaking unit method?

MR. ROGNESS: This is John Rogness.

Yes.

Q. And.given that Kentucky Power now agrees that
its understanding of the EKPC Orders referenced in
subpart (a) was mistaken, is Kentucky Power

currently limiting recovery of its purchased power
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costs through its FAC using the equivalent peaking
unit method when it experienced a planned outage or
is it not experiencing an outage -- 1f not
experiencing an outage but must purchase power to
meet the load?

MR. ROGNESS: We are performing the tests on
all purchasesito make sure that the economic -- the
true economic éost is passed on to our customers.

Q. Using fhe peak -~ peak.equiQalent?

MR. ROGNESS: Yes.

0. Okay. So when did Kentucky Power begin doing
this?

MR. ROGNESS: When we realized that our
understanding of the orders was i1ncorrect. So we
performed the test on the six-month test period, and
that's where --

0. This six-month test period?

MR. ROGNESS: Yes.

Q. Okay.

MR. ROGNESS: But then we've also gone back
and checked the previous two six-month periods, and
in those two instances the purchased power cost was
less than the peaking unit equivalent cost.

Q. Okay. Just to be a little more specific, you

say you're currently using or Kentucky Power is
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currently using the peaking unit method. Was it as
of the six —-- six-month period when it began or when
the response to the data request was filed?

MR. ROGNESS: Well, before we filed the
response, when we realized that our interpretation
of the orders was incorrect, then we went back and
we performed the analysis.

Q. So after the response to the éecond data
request and before the third? Okay.

MR. ROGNESS: Yes.

MR. PINNEY: All right. No further questions
for the panel.

VICE-CHATR GARDNER: Any redirect?

MR. OVERSTREET: I just have one question for
Mr. West.

REDIRECT EXAMINATION
By Mr. Overstreet:
0. Mr. West, the -- and I apologize, it got away
from me, but you have a response in there where you
list the contracts for -- that Kentucky Power
currently contracts for the purchase of coal that
Kentucky Power currently has outstanding?

MR. WEST: Uh-huh.

0. Could you identify for the Commission which

of those contracts is supplying coal to the Mitchell
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Station?

MR. WEST: Just the contracts, not the spot
purchases you're talking about?
Q. Just the contracts, yes.

MR. WEST: Okay. So the -- if you look at
the one, two, three, four, five contracts, the Ohio
Valley Resources is the ~- on that list is the only
one supplying coal to the Mitchell Station during
this time.

I'm trying to find -- there was also a second
Southern Coal Sales agreement that we had some
carryover on, about 40,000 tons of carryover.

Q. Is one of the two Southern Coal Sales
contracts supplying to Mitchell?

MR. WEST: Yes.

Q. And that coal is coming out of -- at least in
part, coming out of Kentucky?

MR. WEST: Yes.

0. And then the S. M. & J, you have two
contracts?

MR. WEST: OCh, I'm sorry. Yes. The
S. M. & J -- hang on. The second of the S. M. & J
contracts that's FOB barge is coming out of
Kentucky, and it's also a Mitchell contract.

0. Okay. So you have two contracts for coal

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634
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going into Mitchell?

MR. WEST: Well, that S. M. & J contract was
just some carryover.
0. Right.

MR. WEST: It's no longer -—-
Q. I understand. It's just some carryover, but
it —--

MR. WEST: Right.

MR. OVERSTREET: -— but that coal was coming
out of Kentucky --

MR. WEST: Yes.
Q. -- and it went to Mitchell?

MR. WEST: Yes.

MR. OVERSTREET: That's all I have.

VICE-CHATIR GARDNER: Mr. Kurtz.

MR. KURTZ: Oh, nothing, Your Honor. No
questions.

MR. COOK: Nothing, Your Honor.

MR. PINNEY: We're finished.

VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: Okay. Were there any
post-hearing data requests?

MR. OVERSTREET: Yes, Your Honor. We were
going to correct the response to the one data
request that left off one of the --

VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: Right. Right.
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MR. OVERSTREET: -- utility comparisons, and
we'll -- we should be able to get that in seven
days.

VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: Okay. Sounds good. Any
other matter? |

MR. OVERSTREET: Not for these witnesses,
Your Honor.

VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: Okay. So these
witnesses are free to go; is that right?

MR. KURTZ: Yes.

VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: These witnesses are free
to go, so we'll just keep going.

MR. OVERSTREET: Thank you.

VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: While they are leaving,
let me just make sure that there's no one here in
any of the EKPC distribution co-op cases. The
hearings were canceled; is that right?

(Mr. Pinney nodded head.)

VICE-CHATIR GARDNER: Okay. Just want tovmake
sure no one is here.

And no one is here in any of the Big Rivers
distribution co-op cases?

Okay. So I don't know that we start all
over, I think you just call your --

MR. OVERSTREET: Next witness?

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634
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VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: -- next witness.

MR. OVERSTREET: Thank you. We would call,
Your Honor, Ranie K. Wohnhas.

* * *

RANIE K. WOHNHAS, called by Kentucky Power
Company, having been first duly sworn, testified as
follows:

VICE-CHATIR GARDNER: Please have a seat.
Please state your full name, please.

THE WITNESS: Ranie K. Wohnhas.

VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: And what is your
position with the -- with Kentucky Power, please?

THE WITNESS: I'm the managing director of
regulatory and finance for Kentucky Power.

VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: All right. How long
have you had that position?

THE WITNESS: Since 2010.

VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: And what is your
address, please?

THE WITNESS: 101-A Enterprise Drive,
Frankfort, Kentucky 40602.

VICE-CHAIR GARDNER:- You may ask.

DIRECT EXAMINATION
By Mr. Overstreet:

Q. Mr. Wohnhas, did you cause to be filed in
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this proceeding certain responses to data requests
and prefiled testimony?

A. I did.

Q. And do you have any corrections or chénges to
either the data request responses or the prefiled
testimony?

A. I do not.

Q. And if you were asked those same questions

"here today, would your responses be the same?

A. They would.
MR. OVERSTREET: The witness is available.
VICE—CHAIR GARDNER: Mr. Kurtz.
MR. KURTZ: Thank you, Your Honor.
CROSS-EXAMINATION

By Mr. Kurtz:

Q. Good afternoon, Mr. Wohnhas.
A, Good afternoon.
‘Q. Okay. A little bit of background. January

1, 2014, ushered in a sort of a new era for Kentucky
Power in that the interconnection agreement
terminated at that point?

A, It did terminate at that point.

Q. Okay. Kentucky Power -- the interconnection
agreement had governed the operations between

Kentucky Power, Ohio Power, Indiana & Michigan,
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Appalachian Power, and Columbus and Southern since
the early 1850s?

A, Sometime about then, and then it had been
revised that Columbus Southern and Ohio Power had
merged at a point in time and it was just four
members.

Q. Now, beginning January 1, 2014, Kentucky

Power operates as a stand-alone utility,

"essentially, under the loose power pooling agreement

that ~- what do we call the new one? The power
share?

A. P --

Q. What is the new one?

A. PSA.

Q. PSA. But in other -- but it doesn't have the

same sort of tight interconnection and cost sharing
of the --

A. Absolutely. It's nothing like the pool.

It's not a pool arrangement.

Q. Okay. Under the old pool agreement, the
deficit companies made capacity equalization
payments to the surplus companies, correct?

A. That is correct.

Q. And Kentucky Power was a deficit company, so

you were paying capacity equalization payments?
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A. That 1s correct.

Q. And among other things, the payment of
capacity equalization payments entitled you to --
entitled the companies to have first call on the
excess generation of your affiliates at cost?

A. We were able to go to the pool, and when we
were short, to be able to have power come from the
pool most of the time.

Q. And one of the reasons you've identified, I
think, that the fuel adjustment has gone up is
because being able to buy from an affiliate at cost
is no longer there; is that correct?

A. It was a pilece of the puzzle in the fact that
because of the pool, the pool was -- especially when
the Cook Nuclear Plant was running as far as the mix
from the pool, it was almost consistently cheaper
than going to any market.

Q. And, of course, I&M had first cail to the
Cook Nuclear generation, did it not?

A. Sure.

Q. Yeah. Okay. But the capacity equalization
payments are still embedded in base rates, correct?
A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Now, let's go through how the energy

flowed under the old pool agreement. First of all,
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Kentucky Power, like all the other operating
companies, had first call to your generation to

serve your native load; 1is that correct?

A. Would you say it again?
Q. You —-
A. I'm sorry.

Q. You had first call for Big Sandy 1, Big Sandy
2, and Rockport to serve your native load first?

A. Yes.

0. Okay. And same with the other companies,
Ohioc Power, I&M, they serve their native load first

out of their generation?

A. That's correct.

0. Okay. When you had or anybody had extra
power, you -- the affiliates were able to buy it at
cost?

A. At the average cost of the surplus, yes.

Q. Okay. And whatever power was left over after

all that was sold off system?

A. Could be sold off system, yes.

Q. And each of the operating companies received
its member locad ratio share of profits from the
total AEP pool of profits from off-system sales?
A. That's correct.

0. Kentucky Power 1s about six to seven percent
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member load ratio, it used to be?

A. In that range, yes.

Q. So Kentucky Power got six to seven percent of
total AEP East off—éystem sales profits no matter
whose power plant actually made the off-system sale;

1s that correct?

A, That 1s correct.

0. Okay. The amount of profits from off-system
sales that are“embedded in base rates that's been
discussed is 15.3 million?

A. Approximately 15.3, yes.

Q. And that 15.3 million was reflective of the
member load ratio sharing of the entire AEP pool of
profits from off-system sales, was 1t not?

A. Yes, because that -- it was established with
the pool still in effect. That's correct.

Q. And, of course, that member load ratio

sharing, the whole pooling structure 1s gone at this

point?
A. It is.
Q. Thank you. Now, also beginning January 1,

2014, Kentucky Power took ownership of 50 percent of
Mitchell Units 1 and 2, correct?
A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Seven hundred and eighty megawatts
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total?
A. That 1is correct.
Q. Now, you've seen in the testimony of the KIUC

witnesses that with Mitchell, and I don't think
you've contested this, Kentucky Power has a
projected reserve margin of 57.3 percent?

A. During the stipulation settlement agreement

" time frame, approximately.

0. During the period when you owned essentially
both Big Sandy and Mitchell?

A. That's correct.

0. Because Mitchell is intended to replace Big
Sandy. Big Sandy 2 is 800 megawatts, Mitchell 1is
780 megawatts, the idea was because Big Sandy 2 is
going to retire April 1, 2005 [sic], because of
MATS, you got Mitchell as a replacement?

A. Yeah. It was —-- yeah, that was the whole
purpose of the Mitchell transfer case.

Q. Okay. So for the -- for the 17-month period

January 1, 2014, through May 31, 2015, you're

going -- Kentucky Power has more power than it needs
for native load. Is that a fair statement?

A. That's fair.

0. And also during the Mitchell stipulation,

Kentucky Power was authorized to retain 100 percent
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of profits from off-system sales as a new
stand-alone entity; 1is that‘correct?

A. One hundred percent profits above the base of
15.3 that goés to the customers.

0. And the 15.3 million that was used to offset
base rates in the last rate case was a vestment of
the old pooling structure that no longer exists?
A. It was stiliAthe amounf that's in base rates
no matter how it was established, but yes.

Q. And capacity equalization payments are in
base rates, but that -- those no longer exist‘
either, do they?

A. That's true, and we only got 44 million of
the total investment of the Mitchell plant.

Q. - Now, part of the case to put Mitchell into
rates, the Mitchell settlement, there was an
estimate on Kentucky Power's part that there would
be fuel savings from Mitchell of approximately
$16.7 million per year?

A. As part of, I believe it's Paragraph 2, it
was 16.75 million based on the coal costs. That
would be the difference between delivered at
Mitchell versus Big Sandy.

Q. Okay. Now, as we've come to learn in this

case, there was a significant fuel expense
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associated with Mitchell that was not factored into
the earlier thinking on the Mitchell transaction.
By that I'm referring to the Mitchell no-load costs.
Do you -- would you say that's -- would you agree
with that?

A. No-load cost was increased due to unexpected
circumstances that weren't intended or discussed
during settlement.

0. Okay. The annual Mitchell no-load costs are
$38.2 million; is that correct?

A. I don't know what the -- off the top of my
head, I don't know what the annual -- where you're
getting that number.

Q. Well, when you redid the Mitchell settlement
agreement documents, Staff asked you to redo it
putting the Mitchell no-load costs in where
originally in the Mitchell settlement you said that

the 17-month rate increase was going to be 5.33

percent --
A. Yes.
0. -- Staff said put in Mitchell no-load and it

goes to 12.81 percent rate -increase?

A. Can you refer me to that data request --
Q. Yeah, that was —-
A. —-— please?
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Q. Yeah, that was the 38.2 million.
A. I'd just like to see that, just -- I remember

the context, I just don't know what data request

that was.

Q. It was response to the Staff --
A. If you don't mind.

Q. Yes. Staff --

MR. RAFF: Third request, Item Numbér 9.

THE WITNESS: I'm sorry, sir? What was it,
Richard?

MR. RAFF: Third request, Item Number 9.

THE WITNESS: Thank you.

MR. RAFF: Attachment 1, I believe.

COMMISSTIONER BREATHITT: The Commission's
third? Staff's third?

MR. RAFF: Yes.

COMMISSIONER BREATHITT: Okay. Will you give
me a second to find it?

MR. RAFF: The second page of the group
that you have ‘there.

THE WITNESS: Mark, do you have the
attachment?

MR. OVERSTREET: I do.

THE WITNESS: I, for some reason, don't have

the attachment.
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MR. OVERSTREET: May I approach the witness
to give him the attachment?

MR. KURTZ: Your Honor, if I can approach, I
have that, separate copies of that. Your Honor, 1if
we could, could we just, for ease of reference, mark
this as KIUC Number 17

VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: Sure. The three pages?

MR. KURTZ: Yes.

A. So in answer to your question, Mr. Kurtz,
yes, it was 38,252 -- 38,252,000, yes.

Q. Okay. Back to that exhibit. The -- let's
see. By way of additional background, would you

agree that in April of 2014, the last month of the
review period, Kentucky Power sold more power
off-system than on-system?
A. I don't have that information in front of me.
Q. Do you have Kentucky Power response to Staff,
first set, Item Number 21, Attachment 17

MR. KURTZ: Again, 1f I could approach, I

have copies for ease of reference.

A. First set, number -- which number?
Q. Twenty-nine.
A. Oh, 29. I'm sorry.

VICE-CHATR GARDNER: This is KIUC 2.

MR. KURTZ: Thank you, Your Honor.
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Q. Do you see down at the --

MR. OVERSTREET: Oh.

MR. KURTZ: I'm sorry?

MR. OVERSTREET: I just -- out of an
abundance of caution, there's certain numbers on
here that are highlighted in yellow. I assume you
did that and that's not the Company's indication
that it's confidential.

MR. KURTZ: Thank you. You're right. Yes.
Sorry.

MR. OVERSTREET: Okay. That's fine. I just

wanted to double-check.

40

Q. You see in the -- well, this is -- this is by

unit. Let me -- let me strike the last question and

rephrase it.
Do you see in the bottom left-hand side of

this percent megawatt hours allocated to native

load, the last grouping in the bottom left-hand side

of the paper?
A. I do.
Q. Okay. Let's just look at Mitchell, for

example. Mitchell, in April of 2014, Mitchell 1,

52.58 percent went to native load; is that correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. Mitchell 2, 55.38 percent went to native
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load?
A, Yes.
Q. Okay. Moving up the -- up the chart, in

April of 2014, 43.51 percent of Rockport Unit 2 went
to native load, correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. And 41.14 percent of Rockport Unit 1 went to
native load, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And Rockport is the lowest fuel cost unit,
generally, on the Kentucky Power system, is it not?
A. On average, it's -- it would be -- it's
normally lower.

Q. Okay. And Big Sandy 2, 39.5 percent went to

native load, correct?

A. - That's correct.

Q. And that's generally the highest cost unit of
the -- of the coal units?

A. I don't know that it's necessarily the
highest.

Q. All right. And then just to finish out

there, 45.42 percent went to native load of Big
Sandy Unit 17
A.  That's correct.

Q. Okay. Let -- by way of further background,
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and I had the -- I had the monthly totals, but 1it's
not -- I don't want to go through all the math, but
the minimum -- the minimum -- the minimum segment

cost of all of these units that are owned or leased
by Kentucky Power, do you remember the response to

the data request, what the minimum segment is?

A. Right.

Q. And it 1s 975 megawatts?

A. For all tﬁe units, you mean-?

Q. Yes. Yes.

A. Off the top of my head, I could -- that's
close.

Q. Okay.

A. I don't remember the exact number.

0. Do you -- and you, of course, rebutted

Mr. Hayet and Mr. Palmer or just Mr. Palmer?

A. Both.
Q. Both. Okay. Do you recall the testimony
that -- of Mr. Hayet that for 31 percent of the

hours of the year Kentucky Power's native load is
less than the minimum, the system -- the minimum
operating levels of all those power plants?

A. If all of them were run at the same time.
0. Okay. Do you remember what the maximum

output of the power plants are? Is?
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A. For all the units?

0. Yeah, all -- yeah, all the units.

A. All units at maximum?

0. Yeah, during the 17-month period.

A. It's -=— I think it's 16 something.

Q. No, no, not Kentucky Power native load, but

the maximum of all the units.

A. All right. "You have to --

0. Two thousand --
A. Two thou -- about 2,000, yes.
0. Two thousand two hundred and fifty megawatts

So 31 percent of the hours of the year Kentucky

Power's native load is less than 975 megawatts,

43

?

and -- which is the minimum of the units?
A. Again, assuming all the units are running at
a particular time, which, you know, is not a -- has

not happened --

S Qv Okay.

A. -— all that often.

Q. Yeah. Okay. Does Kentucky Power dispatch
Rockport?

A. Does Kentucky Power -- all of the dispatch

comes out of Columbus, through the service corp.

Q. Kentucky -- Rock -- Kentucky Power has a

15 percent lease interest in Rockport, the plant is

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

44

actually owned by, I think, I&M and AEP Generating
Company?

A. Yeah, we get a 30 percent share of AEG's

50 percent, which comes out to the 15 percent.

Q. Okay. So Kentucky Power doesn't dispatch
those units, you just get your 15 percent share of
whatever energy comes out of those units?

A. No. Kentucky Power 1itself doesn't‘dispatch
Big Sandy or Mitchell. All that dispatch is done by
our group in Columbus that dispatches on behalf of
Kentucky Power, and Rockport would be part of that
dispatch.

Q. Okay. Is that true with Mitchell also, did
you say?

A. Yes, it is.

Q. Okay. Because the other half of Mitchell 1is

owned by who?

A. Currently by AEP Generation Resources.

Q. That's an unregulated affiliate?

A. Currently, yes.

Q. Do you have a -- know of a definition of the

minimum segment cost, the 975 megawatts, i1f I were
to ask you to define what that means?
A. Well, if you go to -- 1in 29, where we were

already at, we defined no-load cost, first of all,
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and then the total, you know, that is that

incremental of fixed cost before you create any

generation. And then --

VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: Excuse me. Which ~-- I'm
sorry. Which number?

THE WITNESS: P -- I'm sorry. Staff, first

set, Number 29.

VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: And what number?
What --

THE WITNESS: At the very beginning, even
before a., we define no-load costs --

VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: Okay. I see. Thank

you.

THE WITNESS: ~- are the fixed and
consumables.
A. All right. So that's the no-load cost. But

then up to the minimum load, which that minimum is
at the minimum level that that unit can operate
continually in a safe, reliable fashion, and each
unit has a different megawatt hour up to that point,
but -- so between no-load cost and that minimum
level, you know, are the costs of start-up to get to
that level.

0. Okay. So the minimum, the 975 megawatts

total system, that's the power plants are as low as
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they can physically safely operate and generate
electricity?

A. If all four run -- or all six units were run
at one time; that is correct.

Q. And no-load fuel cost is the cost of fuel to
burn, to boil water, to make steam, to turn the
turbine, to turn the generator and get it synced up

to the grid but produce no megawatt hours?

A. No. You know, and again, Kelly Pearce is
probably a better person to -- if you want to reask
that question when he's on the stand. Bﬁt, you

know, the no-load portion of that, all right,
there's nothing generating. All right. There is
zero generation going on, but it's -- as it states
there in 29, you know, the fixed cost, you know, if
you want to read that for everyone.
Q. Go ahead. Go ahead.
A. That's fine. "Are the fixed fuel and
consumable costs incurred when a unit is in
operation that are not dependent on the output level
of the unit."”

And we say, "In other words, these are the
costs incurred in any hour to ensure that a
generating unit is online and available to serve

internal load, which has long been a principle of
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how AEP dispatches its units."”

0. So you're --
A. So if you look on a curve, you know,
there's —-- again, and Kelly can readdress this, you

go up a certain level and that's no-load cost, and
then it has a curve up towards the minimum, where
then we have the actual start-up costs that are
needed to get it to and just,say, example,

200 megawatts for a particular unit.

Q. So let's go back again. A no-load state
you're produce -- the power plant is producing zero
units of energy?

A. That is correct.

Q. OCkay. So you —-- so it's a theoretical

statement?

A. It is. It's a cost as we have discussed in
the other -- if you were here in the other cases
this morning, it's a cost. It is not defined by

itself, doesn't have a separate account number, but

it's a part of the total fuel costs that the Company

incurs.

Q. Okay. Did you call it a fixed cost earlier?
Al Yes.

Q. Okay. Now, again, it's the amount of fuel to

burn to turn to make steam Jjust up to the point
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right before you make actually any electricity?

A. That would be my interpretation. You know,

if Mr. Pearce has a different way we can say 1it, but

that's -- yes.

Q. Okay. ©Now, no utility would ever -- first of
all, you couldn't physically run a power plant like
that at that level, could you? |

A. No. If there's -- if it does not generate,
if it's generating zero, even though there's a
no-load cost cost that's calculated, nothing gets
passed through to the customer. All right? So if

there's zero generation, there is zero no-lcad cost.

0. Well, let's start again.
A. That's a fact.
Q. Well, you can't operate a power plant at the

no-load level, can you? Because the minimum you can

operate it is the minimum, which is above no-load,

right?
A. That's correct.
Q. Okay. So you can't physically operate just

to the brink of producing electricity, it's a

theoretical --
A. But that's the idea behind a theoretical is
that if there's not any generation -- all right.

For instance, if Big Sandy 1 for an example, 1is not
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running, it is down, not churning a single megawatt,
zero no-locad cost. There is no load cost that gets
allocated to any customer.

Q. No utility ever would -- even if you could
physically operate at no-load, why would you burn

coal to make zero?

A. You don't burn coal to make zero. It's a --

Q. Right. You would never -- you would never --
A. Again, that's what -- that's the point we're
making.

0. Right. You would never do that in the real

world even if you could, because you're burning coal
and getting no output?

A. Yeah, there is no burning of coal to get a
no-load cost. All right? 1It's just fixed costs.
There's nothing burning.

0. " You've calculated the no-load costs by unit,

haven't you, for the Commission?

A. Yes, I think that was --

Q. Okay.

A. The answer is yes.

0. You've called it a fixed cost. Could you --

could you make any electricity without incurring the
no-load cost?

A. Ask that again, please.
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Q. Could you make electricity without incurring
the no-load cost?

A. No.

Q. So 1n order to sell power on system, you have
to incur the no-locad cost?

A, Yes.

Q. And in order to generate electricity, so

off~-system, you have to incur the no-load cost,

. correct?

A. If no-load cost is incurred, yes.

Q. You've testified that -- in big picture that
you think that the way Kentucky Power has been doing
fuel costs, the fuel adjustment is a reasonable
rate?

A. It is a —-- the way -- it's under the economic
dispatch principles that Kentucky Power has been
under for at least the last 30 years, yes.

Q. I'll get into this a little bit later, but
when did the Commission Staff ever hear the phrase
"no-load cost"? When was the first time?

A. I don't know.

0. Didn't you answer a data request that said it
was the June 26, 2014, informal conference was thé
first time no-load was ever discussed?

A. That -- you asked -- I mean, that's when we
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»

brought it and discussed it. I can't answer if
Staff knew of those costs prior to that or not.
0. Well, if you aésume Staff had never heard of
it before the June 26, 2014, conference, then the
fact that Kentucky Power had been doing something
for 30 years, I mean, what difference would it make
if it was a secret, so to speak?
A. I didn't say it was a secret.

MR. KURTZ: Your Honor, if we could have
marked as KIUC 3. This is an excerpt from an

exhibit from Mr. Kollen's [sic] testimony.

Q. Oh, sorry.

A. I can look it up, but if you're passing it
out.

Q. And I would -- I Jjust did this for ease of
reference. This is from page 9 of his -- oh,

Mr. Hayet's testimony. Page 9 of Mr. Hayet. If you
want -- if you want to wverify, you can turn to his
testimony.

Have you seen this before?

A. Yes.
0. Okay. Let's just go through by month. Let's
just -- I don't want to go through by month. Let's

just go to April, make it faster.

In April 2014, Kentucky Power's total fuel
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costs were $27.83 per megawatt hour?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Okay. And the amount that off-systems sales
paid was $22.36 per megawatt hour?

A. That's what it shows, yes.

Q. Okay. And native load paid above the average

cost, native load paid $34.40 per megawatt hour?

A. Yes.

Q. Is that correct?

A. That's what -- that's what it shows.

Q. Okay. And you think that it's reasonable to

charge the off-system customers, looks like $12 a

megawatt hour less than your own ratepayers?

A. No, I think, you know, in order to
understand, you, the -- I don't think this shows the
whole picture. It's factual numbers, but what you

have to remember in looking at this is, you know,
first of all, you know, we do economically dispatch
that the highest cost goes to off-system sales, and
that, you know -- and then we do it from a top-down,
you know, down to the area of the minimums, as we
discussed, and the minimums then down to —-- get
allocated to internal, because part of -- as was
brought up by Mr. Kurtz, you know, during this

stipulation settlement agreement, we do have
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additional units able to run, and as part of
Paragraph 7 of that stipulation settlement
agreement, because we were only -- had agreed to
recover only $44 million through the asset transfer
rider, then we was also given the opportunity to
mitigate some of that risk to our earnings by having
off-system sales, and so in order to do that, you
know, the units were ready.

Due to the unexpected event of a polar vortex
in January and February, when there was increased
need for electricity off-system, you know, the
Company was able to make those sales, and at that
time, then you have as many of the units that were
available running, and so then, you know, we did not
change any type of our allocations, any of our
methods, any way that we did business just to make
off-system sales, we did it exactly as we've always
done it for the last 30 years, and due to the events
of the stipulation, all the different things that
were settled upon, then you end up with these
results.

Q. Okay. Let me ask it again. In April of
2014, you charged your own ratepayers $12 a megawatt
hour more for fuel than your out-of-state sales or

off-system sales. You charged your native load

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

54

customers 50 percent more for fuel than off-system.
Just inherently you think that's fair? You think
that's —--

A. I think it's fair in the context that in the
whole scheme of the Company was only receiving

40 percent of the value of Mitchell through base
rates, and so the customers were getting the benefit

of those cbsts, and so then when you net everything,

it is definitely a ben -- a net penefit to the
customer.
Q. Now, there's a funny —-- there's a funny

relationship, because you treat all these no-load
costs as fixed costs and they go to native load no
matter what, correct? No matter what volume of
sales, native load always pays the no-load costs?
A. In general, yes, unless it is -- the only
no-load cost that would ever be signed off is if
your internal load was less than the sum of if you
had all the units running. So in other words, as
you have said, the 975. If for any reason that my
internal load was only 900, all right, that
incremental difference between 900 and 90 ~-- 975, a
portion of that then would get allocated to
off-system sales.

Q. Now, you don't mean no-load costs, you mean
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minimum segment, because no-load costs go to native
load 100 percent of the time no matter what; isn't
that correct? Should I ask Mr. Pearce that

question?

A. Yeah, if you can ask Mr. Pearce.

Q. Okay.

A. I believe it's -- he can clarify that.

Q. ‘ Okay. N@w, by treating no-load costs as a

fixed cost, don't you have this sort of cruel irony
that as native load sales go down, the fuel
adjustment rate goes up, all else equal, because
you're amortizing the fixed no-load costs over fewer
megawatt hours?
A. You know, if you look at fuel costs in
isolation, yes, but that's not the way that this
needs to be looked at. It's -- that's why we
settled on the various parts of the settle -- the
stipulation and settlement agreement and looked at
it in total.

MR. KURTZ: Your Honor, if we could have
marked as KIUC 4.

VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: So ordered.
Q. You've seen this data response from Kentucky
Power, have you not?

A. I have.
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Q. Okay. Let's just go over the no -- these are
the no-load costs by month by power plant?

A, Yes.

Q. Okay. And Staff requested this in its first

set, Item 297

A. That's correct.
Q. Okay. Now, we saw earlier -- again, I Jjust
want to focus on April 2014 - that in April 2014,

this is KIUC Number 2, this document here, that
native load customers got 39.5 percent of the Big

Sandy 2 generation; is that correct?

A. I'm not sure where you're at.
Q. Okay. KIUC 2. I'm sorry. I'm bouncing you
back. This —-- in April native load got 39.5 percent

of Big Sandy 2's generation; is that correct?

A. KIUC Number 27
Q. Yes. It's the Staff 29, this document.
A. I've already lost it. And what number again?

I'm sorry.

Q. April '14, Big Sandy Unit 2 native load
received 39.5 percent of the output of Big Sandy 27
A. Yes.

Q. Now, if you look on KIUC 4 at the bottom, Big
Sandy 2 in April, what was the no-load cost?

A. Big Sandy 27
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Q. Yes.
A. 4,250,145.
Q. Okay. And in that month native load paid all

that no-load cost, correct? Because you treat it as
a fixed cost?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Now, what if native load had only
received one megawatt hour out of BigiSandy 27
Native ioad would have still got charged that same
$4.2 million, correct?

A. In theory. You are not going to generate one
megawatt hour, but yes.

Q. Now, for the whole month of -- month of

April, Kentucky Power had $7,844,000 of no-load

costs --

A. That's correct.

Q. -~ 1is that correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. Now, this is going to be an extreme example,
I know it couldn't happen, but let me -- just to

demonstrate a point, if in the month of April you
had one customer left on the system and she bought
one megawatt hour of power from Kentucky Power and
everything else was sold off-system, wouldn't that

one customer be charged $7.844 million of no-load
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costs?
A. I don't know i1f you could make that

calculation. I think you're right, that's a

stretch. I don't know you can make that assumption.
Q. But that -- that's the way 1t works.

A. Ah.

Q. So the no-load cost goes to native load

regardless of the level of native load sales?

A. But you wouldn't -- you know, that's --
that's just a completely unacceptable hypothesis.

Q. Well, it's an extreme example, I know, and I
said that, but it just -- but the point is that
no-load goes with native load no matter how much
power you sell to native load versus off-system?

A. You know, we stated, you know, time and again
that, you know, we followed the economic dispatch
principles, we follow our economic on how these
costs are allocated and have been allocated, and,
you know, 1t's a principle that is not -- we're not
the only utility in the state that does this. There
are differences on how they allocate, but we're
clearly not the only one that allocates this way,
and it's a very, you know, credible way of
allocating the costs.

Q. Okay. Now, during the time when AE -- when
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Kentucky Power was operating under the AEP pooling
agreement, there was actually language in the
interconnection agreement, the pooling agreement,

that Mr. Pearce cited that seemed to indicate this

is -- that that 1s the way you were supposed to do
it, the treatment of no-load costs. Do you recall
that?

A, Well, you can ask Mr. Pearce. I mean, I know

he has a quote in there from the AEP pool agreement.
It's probably better asked of Mr. Pearce.
0. But beginning January 1, 2014, there 1is no

more pool agreement to give guidance?

A. There 1s no -- there's no longer a pool
agreement.
Q. Would you agree that the Commission's job,

among other things, to balance interests and so
forth, is to establish just and reasonable fuel
rates for consumers?

A. That's part of the fuel adjustment clause 1is
to look at the costs that have been incurred and to
make sure that those costs are prudently —-- that
were prudently incurred and properly passed through
the fuel adjustment clause.

Q. Do you —-- do you know how the Commission, I'm

sure you do, treats fixed environmental costs for
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purposes of the environmental surcharge in terms of

allocations of off-system -- to off-system sales?
A. I am.
Q. And doesn't the Commission allocate a portion

of the fixed environmental costs to off-system
sales?

A. They do allocate a portion of that which is,
you know, basically shifting how the Company
recovers those environmental costs; a shift from
collecting it from the retail through the
environmental through collection through off-system
sales by increasing the cost of off-system sales.

Q. Now, Mr. Kollen had a long discussion about
the history of that and how Kentucky Power
challenged that and went up to the circuit court and
the Commission was affirmed. You didn't file any
rebuttal to any of that, did you?

A. No. We did not file any -- I did not file
any rebuttal to that, but when you think about --
it's the same thing that's been discussed, you know,
previously, that if you make a change -- and take,
for instance, if you're going to change the
allocation method of how these fuel costs are
allocated, that it must match up with a base rate

type of case in order that you don't have tracked
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costs.

"Tracked costs" meaning costs that, as I
said, in base rates is set up under certain
parameters that -- you know, the 15.3 was based on
this is how the allocation process worked. If you
change that outside of a base rate case, then you
are going to end up with costs aren't going to be
fully recovered, in other words, tracked costs.

0. Now, didn't we establish earlier that the
15.3 million in off-system sales profits baked into
the current base rates was a vestige of the old
pooling agreement, the member load ratio sharing of
all of AEP's profits from off-system sales?

A. But it doesn't matter how it's developed,
it's what's being collected through base rates at
$15.3 million.

Q. And the -- we have to assume for ratemaking
purposes the base rate is fair, just, and reasonable
until the Commission rules otherwise?

A. They ruled at that case that it was fair,
just, and reasonable in that case.

Q. Do you -- have you ever been involved in a
situation where the Commission has disallowed fuel
costs 1in an FAC procceed?

A. I have not, no.
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Q. Are you aware that in -- do you remember in
the late '90s when KU and LG&E were charging native
load customers the fuel costs associated with line
losses from off-system sales and the Commission

said, "No, refund that money"?

A. I do not.

Q. You don't?

A. I'm sorry.

Q. Do you remember the Big Rivers fuel

disallowances from the mid '90s?

A. I do not.

Q. Are you aware of any fuel case where theA
Commission said, "We find that fuel rate to be
unreasonable, but we're not going to deal with it
until the next rate case"?

A. We've never had a case —-- that I'm aware of,
there's never been a case at Kentucky Power where
they've disallowed any fuel cost.

0. I'm not asking for a legal opinion, but you
recognize that the fuel adjustment regulation is a
stand-alone regulation that requires the fuel rate
to be reasonable?

A. I do, but also understand that the effect on
fuel, 1f you change an allocation between internal

and off-system sales, that it has an effect on your
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off-system sales and the way it was established in
base rates which then again leads to a mismatch
which, you know, is the whole point here. In order
to keep everything on fair and equitable, they must
be matched up with a base rate case.

Q. Let me ask you to turn to your testimony,

page 6.

A. I'm there.

Q. Do you have that?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. - Now, on line 8 you have a number $9.884

million; is that correct?

A. That is correct.

Q. And that's quantified on your Exhibit 1, it's
the cost difference between the high- and low-~sulfur
cools used -- coals used at Mitchell and the
low-sulfur coal used at Big Sandy?

A. That's correct. It's looking and saying that
the Big Sandy, if you priced it all out at the
Mitchell, what the amount would.be, yes.

Q. Okay. So tell me how -- tell me how you did

that calculation.

A. Basically we looked at -- if you go over to
my exhibit, RKW-1, and the -- and we show there the
Mitchell, you have -- I wish I put column head -- or
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numbers on them. I apologize for that.

But you have the fourth column over says
Total Actual Monthly Fuel Cost. That's all in
Rockport, Big Sandy, and Mitchell. And what the
difference is in the next column over is basically
taking that instead of the Mitchell units at -- I'm
sdrry. I'm sorry. That the Big Sandy units, we
would price them out at Mitchell's cost.
Q. Okay. And --
A. And so you have those differences shown out
there in the last few columns.
Q. Okay. You took the Big Sandy generation and
said if it were to have the same fuel cost as

Mitchell, this would be the savings?

A. That —-- that's correct.

Q. Okay.

A. Which is -- which is similar to what we did
in Paragraph 7 in coming up with -- we made an

estimated $2.50 per megawatt hour difference to the
estimated number of tons would come up with that
16.75 million. This is trying to emulate that,

Mr. Kurtz.

Q. Now, you recognize that not all the Big Sandy
megawatt hours go to native load, correct?

A. Yes.
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Q. Okay. And, in fact, from KIUC 2 we saw that
in April, for example, only 39.5 percent of Big
Sandy 2 megawatt hours went to native load, right?
A. But back to Paragraph 2, in the stipulation,
you know, thatbquick analysis to come up with that
number, you know, was not changing that difference
of Big Sandy between internal and off-system loads
either.

0. I want to go to your Exhibit 1, this

9.88 million.

A. Yes, sir.

Q. You swapped out the fuel costs of Big Sandy
and Mitchell, and you say, "Well, Big Sandy has a
higher fuel cost than Mitchell, therefore ratepayers
are saved 9.88 million," but the thing I want to
discuss is ratepayers aren't getting all the
generation from Big Sandy, we're only getting

40 percent of it in the April month, so how is this
calculation accurate?

A. The calculation is accurate only in the
context against the 16.75 million. That's the only
purpose of this calculation.

Q. And this also doesn't show the $38.2 million
of no-load costs that consumers are paying with

respect to Mitchell?
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A. Yes. This was only to look at in comparison
to Paragraph 2 of the stipulation agreement.
Q. The -- now, at the time of the Mitchell
settlement, Kentucky Power and AEPSC employees were
not aware of the magnitude of the no-load costs of
Mitchell;»is that correct? I'll ask you --
A. We -- what we —-- at the time of the
settlément stipulation agreement, we did not see an
impact based on the fact that we assumed, as I think
is proper, a normal type of situation and that, you
know, Big Sand -- Mitchell would be used more than
Big Sandy for internal because of the cheaper cost,
and that even though we had an opportunity to maybe
make some off-system sales, there was no guarantee,
so the allocation principles that had always been
there, you know, we didn't anticipate having to make
any changes and we did not make any changes to those
principles.
Q. Well, let me just hand out as KIUC, I think 57?
VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: Five.
Q. Staff asked you some questions about what you

knew about the no-load and when you knew 1it.

A. Uh~huh.
Q. Do you recognize this data response?
A. I do.
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Q. Okay. Staff asked, "Given that Kentucky
Power allocates 100 percent of 'no load costs' to
native load customers, state whether Kentucky Power
or American Electric Power Company employees were
aware of the magnitude that the Mitchell 'no load
costs' would have on Kentucky Power's internal
customers prior to the July 2, 2013 filing of the
Stipulation énd Settlement Agreement in" the
Mitchell case.

And your answer was -- can you read your
answer? At least the first sentence. Read it all
if you want, but --

A. "No. Kentucky Power and AEPSC employees were
not aware of the magnitude of the post-December 31,
2013 no load costs or their effect on the Company's
internal customers."

Q. When did you become aware of the magnitude?
A. We became aware of the magnitude probably
towards the end of February, March, and the fact
that my staff, as they starting seeing the fuel
costs, saw that there was an increase, and we
started to ask questions internally to our own
internal investigation through our discussions with
Columbus. And that occurred over the next two to

three months in trying to understand why everything,
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you know, was changing.

So that was the beginning of it, and, you
know, come towards the end of April, early May,
after seeing -- again, remember that we're on the
two-month lag, so, you know, January's costs,
actuals we don't get until -- till laté February,
and so as you look at a couple months, part of what
we were doing as well -- we knew that with Mitchell
coming in and the pool going out, when you have
changes to your systems, you want to make sure that
everything is operating properly, and so, you know,
we were going through our due diligence to look at
all these costs, to investigate and, you know, ask
ourselves did we change something in there, did
something happen that we wouldn't -- that, you know,
was incorrect.

Through all of that due diligence, and it

~ took a while to see a few months that -- how this

was incurring, did we see the results and attribute
that a great portion of these changes was due to the
no-load costs.

Q. Why did you wait until June 26th to even
disclose the existence of the significant cost to
Staff?

A. It wasn't that late. There was conversations
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between our staff and the Commission Staff on issues
that we were going to bring up as we were talking to
them about changes during the year, and that was one
of the issues that was asked of us was, you know,

as -- are we -- are we aware of the increase in the
fuel, and we said yes, and we saild that as soon as
we understand and what that 1is, you know, we will
let you know.

"And so then towards the end of April, May,
when we were aware of 1t, we set up the informal
conference. It just -- the conference just didn't
happen till June 26th. But there were conversations
between us and Staff.

MR. KURTZ: Okay. Let's -- KIUC 6, if we
could. |
VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: Gesundheit.

THE WITNESS: Thank you.

Q. Do you recognize this data request?
A. I do.
Q. Okay. Let's just -- let -- I'1l1l ask you

about g. first. Staff said, "State whether 'no load
costs' are discussed in Kentucky Power's Cost
Allocation Manual. If yes, provide excerpts."

What was the answer?

A. "'No load costs' are not addressed within the
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Cost Allocation Manual."
Q. Okay. And then Staff asked you on j., "State
whether Kentucky Power has discussed 'no load costs'
with the Commission prior to the meeting held on
June 26, 2014, at the Commission's offices. If ves,
identify the proceeding."

Can you read your answer?
A. "Kentucky Power is not aware of any
prbceeding in which inquiry has been made recording
'no load costs.'"
Q. Does that mean Staff first learned of the

no-load costs on June 26, 20147

A. It means that Kentucky Power was not aware.
If that was the first time -- it may have been the
first time. I cannot definitively answer 1if it was

Staff's. All I know 1s that we were not able to
find any proceeding where it was discussed.

MR. KURTZ: Going to mark this KIUC 7.
Q. Do you recognize thié document, Mr. Wohnhas?
That's our -- that's our handwriting, my handwriting
or somebody's, June 26.
A. This is the document that was handed out
during the informal conference held on June 26.
Q. Okay. I just want to breeze through it.

There's quite a bit of detail on weighted average
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costs of coal and coal pile adjustments and the

illustration of coal surveys and this type of thing.

A. Yes.

Q. Is that -- is that fair?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. A lot of information on forced outage
calculation, page 1l6. Page 17 there's -- there are
detailed documentation. Do you -- let's see. Can

you turn to page 227
A. Yes, sir.
Q. The second bullet point, (Reading) Kentucky
Power's methodology for allocating no-load costs to
internal load has not changed.

Is that the only discussion of no-load costs
in your presentation?
A. No. If you recall, we had a very extended
verbal discussion of this for probably 45 minutes.
Q. Yeah, I do remember, but I mean in the
presentation, your written presentation, is that the
only discussion of no-load costs?
A. That was the only —-- as a bullet to -- to
have that discussed, yes.
Q. That's a fairly brief -- a brief discussion
of a $38 million per yéar cost, is it not?

A. It wasn't a discussion, it was just a bullet
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point to make -- to allow us to remember to have
this discussion during the formal conference.
Q. So the -- at least the written materials,

it's not a very in-depth discussion, would you

agree?
A. It's not a discussion at all.
Q. Okay. But you did have a very detailed -- 20

pages on inventory, on all these other things here;
is that correct?

A. There's other different layouts, yes.

Q. The very last page is entitled Increase in
Fuel Adjustment Clause, Contributing Factors,
Termination of the AEP East System Pool; is that
correct?

Al Yes.

0. Okay. And then the last bullet ‘is Inclusion
of Mitchell in Kentucky Power's Portfolio?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. That came as sort of a surprise,
because when the Commission approved the Mitchell
settlement, the Commission was told and intervenors
and signatories were told this was going to be a
$16.75 million fuel savings, correct?

A. You know, as I said before, you know, we did

not anticipate the idea of no-load costs having an
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increase due to this happening. It was not until
the events of January through the cold polar vortex
did, you know, 1t come about that now these units
were going to running all at the same time.

So, you know, once those events happened, you
know, things changed on how -- we did not expect
those, you know, when we were discussing the
stipulation settlement agreement.

Q. You mentioned polar vortex a couple times.

On page 6 of your testimony, line 16, you say, "More
fundamentally, the higher no load costs are driven
principally by the fact that the extreme cold
weather experienced during the January and

February 2014 Polar Vortex created a seldom-seen and
never-contemplated demand for the Company's
generation."

Did I read that correctly?

A. You did.
Q. Okay. Can you turn back to KIUC Exhibit 4,

the no-load costs by unit by month?

A. Yes, sir.
Q. Okay. The -- let's look at your no-load
costs total system for January 2014. 9.5 million;

is that correct?

A. That is correct.
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Q. Okay. February, the other polar vortex month
you cite, 7.5 million, correct?

A. That's correct.

0. Okay. And then in March it's 6.7 million,
correct?

A, Yes.

Q. And then in April it's higher than it was in
February, it's 7.8 million.

A. That's correct.

Q. So why do you testify that the higher no-load
costs are driven principally by the February and
January polar vortex when your April no-load costs
were higher than February?

A. Well, without looking at all of the things
that happened, as, again, part of the stipulation
settlement agreement was the fact of Paragraph 7
where we had the opportunity to have off—system
sales, and if there were opportunities in April that
may not have been there in March, we would have ran
those units to take advantage of that opportunity.
0. No, but you're blaming the high no-load costs
on the polar'vortex, and the polar vortex didn't
have anything to do with it in April, and it's
higher than it was in February.

A. That's -- the cold weather clearly in January

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

75

and February, you know, drove the running of all the
units to take care of not only our increased
internal load, but then also the opportunity for
off-system sales after we took care of our internal
load.

And again, in following months you're still

going to have the opportunity, whether it's

Vcompletely due to the polar vertex -- I'm sorry,

vortéx, the cold weather, or the opportunity sales
based on situations that are out there in the market
to make those sales.

0. How can you blame the high no-load costs on
the polar vortex when April was higher than
February?

A. I don't know how to explain it differently to
you, sir.

0. Okay. You have =-- when Staff asked you to

redo the Mitchell settlement spreadsheet -- is that

KIUC 1? Okay. Do you have KIUC 1 in front of you?

Do you have KIUC 1 in front of you?
A, Yes.
Q. Okay. Let me hand you another exhibit. It's
the original Staff data request.
MR. KURTZ: If we could have it marked as

KIUC 8.
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Q. Do you recognize this document from the

Mitchell case?

A. I do.
0. Okay. This is —-- you're -- the Staff -- do
you read the -- well, the request at the top says,

(Reading) Provide an exhibit, with electronic copy,

all formats [sic] attached, et cetera.
"The‘échedule éhould.reflect all known and

measurable adjustments and at a minimum should

reflect,” and the Staff gave you a lot of different

things.

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Can you —-- can you turn to the last page of
this?

A. To Attachment 17

0. Yes.

A, Yes.

Q. Okay. Column one was the rate, the projected

rate ilncrease if you were going to go ahead and
build a scrubber at Big Sandy 2 at 25.59 percent,
correct?

A. That is correct.

Q. Okay. And what the Company told the
Commission was, for the 17-month period where

Kentucky Power would own both Mitchell and Big
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Sandy, the rate increase on consumers was only
projected to be 5.33 percent, correct?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Now, that waé kind of, at least I thought, a
small price to pay to retire one unit, get a ﬁhole
nother unit. It seems that was relatively modest.
Was that the way you understood that number to be
interpreted?

A. Well, it was, you know, a good deal to get

the Mitchell unit, but the Kentump =-- the Kentuck --
the Company was only getting 44 million of the -- or

roughly 40 percent of the total value of that
investment, at least for the next 17, 18 months.

Q. Okay. But now when Staff in KIUC 1 said redo
that exhibit but add the Mitchell no-load costs, you
see that same exhibit with a $38,252,000 no-load
cost right in the middle?

A. I do. But I also notice that in 5-10, in the
question that you -- that you read a few minutes
ago, it says, "The schedule should reflect all known
and measurable adjustments." And we reflected all
known and measurable adjustments. There was nothing
around no-load costs that we saw was changing at the
time 5 -10 was developed.

Q. Well, how could you forget about a
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$38 million cost?

A. There wasn't a $38 million cost in July --

when we look at -- and assuming normal weather,
normal occurrences, that wouldn't have happened. We

did not have it forecasted, so it's not something
that you -- in hindsight it all looks good, but at
the time you were there, these costs we did not
expect to change.

Q. Well, let;s go back a little bit. Staff
never even heard the phrase no-load, as far as I can
tell from the paper trail, until June of 2014, and
you were not able to find out -- cite anyplace where
they were informed about that, correct?

A. That‘s.correct.

Q. Okay. So when -- and all the Mitchell
no-load costs go on native load customers no matter
how much Mitchell serves native load, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. It's a fixed cost, as you've described it, a
fixed fuel cost.

A. But if the units were to run similar and if
there would not héve been a polar vortex, 1if 2013 --
I'm sorry, 2014's winter weather pattern had been
very similar to 2013, you would not have -- you

would not have incurred all these additional no-load
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costs, and thus you would not have this increase in

fuel.
Q. Is that the polar vortex from April?
A. That's the increase -- we could have had --

increased in some no-load costs due to Paragraph 7,
but it would not have been, you know, due to the
extra needed for covering the polar vortex.

Q. Now, when Staff asked you to put the no-load
costs in here, in your Mitchell analysis, the rate
increase goes from 5.33 percent to 12.81 percent,
correct?

A. That is correct.

Q. That's 140 percent higher number than what
the Commission and, well, the signatory parties were
led to believe.

A. Well, but you failed to go to the next column
where the total impact was going to be 13.98, and
then it jumps only to 15.01 percent. So there's a
bigger difference in the interim, but the total rate
impact is, you know, basically only one percent
difference for the whole Mitchell as a whole.

Q. Yeah, yeah, I'm going to foc -- well, still

15 percent is higher than 14 percent.

A. It is.

0. But that's nominal. I think anyone can
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excuse, but being off by 140 percent and forgetting

a $38 million cost, that's --

A. We didn't forget a cost.
Q. Well --
A. All right? You know, I don't -- I don't know

how to make it any clearer that those costs were not

anticipated to change, and you can't make an

estimate of something you don't think is going to

change. It was not known and measurable at the time

we were discussing the stipulation and settlement

agreement.
Q. Somebody in AEP knew how no-load costs were
handled for fuel adjustment purposes. You've been

doing 1t the same way for 30 years.

A. Sure.

Q. So why wasn't that person brought in to bear
on the known and measurable changes?

A. But again, we didn't see anything changing.
We did not see the load changing, so there was no
anticipated change to no-load costs.

Q. I want to just hand you one final exhibit,

Mr. Wohnhas, KIUC 9.

A. Thank you.
Q. Do you recognize this from Mr. Hayet's
testimony, page 15 -- 13? Page 15, do you recognize
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this -- this document or this exhibit?

A. I do.

Q. Okay. Now, what he did is he looked at

the -- on the left on the top, the Kentucky Power,

this is how you allocated fuel costs between native
load and off-system sales for each of the power
plants over the four-month period. Is that the way
you understood it when you reviewed his testimony?
A. Sure.

Q. Okay. So off-system sales out of Big Sandy
for the four-month period paid $25.81 a megawatt
hour and native load was $35.257

A. Yes.

0. So native load paid $9.44 more than
off-system for the Big Sandy power; is that correct?
A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And for the four-month period out of
Mitchell, native load customers paid $9.58 a

megawatt hour more than off-system sales, correct?

A. You say 9.587?

Q. Yes.

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And Rockport again, native load paid

$3.07 a megawatt hour more than off-system, correct?

A. Yes.
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Q. Now, he said, well, what would it have been
if you did the East Kentucky stacking? And there
you get pretty close. Native load and off-system
aren't that far apart. For Big Sandy off-system
pays $.97 a megawatt hour more than native load, but

just a little bit more, right? That's what it

shows?
A. For this calculation.
Q. And that for Mitchell native load would pay a

little bit less, well, $4.06, little bit less, but
off-system isn't that far off the market, it's $4
higher, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And then for Rockport, again, pretty similar,
native load only pays $1.04 a megawatt hour less
than off-system, but still just a little bit less.
A. Yes.

0. So it's not as -- nearly as dramatic of a

swing in the different fuel costs for the different

jurisdictions versus your method. That part is
true.
A. I mean, it's just -- it's a complete

different allocation method and that's the numbers
that come out. You have to realize that if you make

this allocation change and you shift, as a short
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term, you may take a short-term benefit on your fuel
costs, but you make a long-term detriment to your
off-system sales. And, you know, getting out of the
stipulation settlement agreement 100 percent, going
to Kentucky Power and you go back to a 60/40
sharing, you'wve hurt both the Company and the
customer's ability to share in off-system sales,
'cause the dispatch costs go up for the units due to
the off -- the additional cost to off-system sales,
so that opportunity is now much less.

Q. Now, during the four months, January through
April, would you agree that Kentucky Power made
profits from off-system sales of $49,635,000°7

A. Where are you getting that number?

Q. It's from the Kollen chart where's he's got
the big spike in the off-system sales profits and
he's got the numbers. It's also an exhibit to his
testimony.

A. Is it an exhibit or a table?

Q. It's both. But go to his Exhibit -- I think
3 or 5. Oh. How about 7? Yeah. Kollen Exhibit 7.
It's got profits from off-system sales, January

'14 -- these are right off your fuel schedule --
18.397 million, February 11 --

A, Eleven, yes.
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Q. Okay.
A. Okay.
Q. So puts -- during the four-month period,

Kentucky Power made profits from off-system sales of
49,635,000; 1s that correct?
A. Yes.
Q. Now, if the Commission were to adopt the
KIUC/Attorney General recommendation, youi profits
from off-systems sales would go down by 12.648
million? Well, plus interest.
A. That's the calculation you made, yes.
Q. You would still -~ excluding the interest for
the time being, you would still have $37 million in
profits from off-system sales in the first four
months of the year, even if the Attorney
General/KIUC recommendation was adopted?
A. That's correct. But I would still only be
getting $44 million of the base investment in the
Mitchell plant, and thus, you know -- and it would
be going against the principles of the settlement
agreement in Paragraph 7 with the opportunity.

So we're changing the way that the
stipulation works for the benefit of not -- for an
event, being the polar vortex and such, that no one

was aware of.
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Q. So if your profit margin from off-system
sales in four months goes down from 49.6 million to
37 million, that's still a lot of money, isn't 1it?
A. In comparison to what? I mean, it's a lot of
money, yes.

MR. KURTZ: Okay. Your Honor, those are all
my questions for now.

VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: Mr. Cook.

CROSS—EXAMINATION

By Mr. Cook:
Q. Just a couple of qguick questions, Mr.
Wohnhas. Thé Attorney General was not a party to
the settlement and stipulation in the 2012-578 case;

is that correct?

A. That is correct.

Q. And currently the Attorney General has that
stipulation on appeal. Is that your understanding
too?

A. That's correct.

MR. COOK: That's all.
VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: Okay. Thank you.
CROSS-EXAMINATION
By Mr. Raff:
0. Good afternoon, Mr. Wohnhas.

A. Good afternoon, sir.
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Q. I just have a couple of questions. In the
four months of January through April 2014, did
Kentucky Power allocate to native load customers any
no-load fuel costs for Big Sandy Unit 2 for any hour
that native load could have been met without power
from Big Sandy 27

A. I don't know the actuals of that, we'd have

fo ask Mr. Pearce, but in theory, no, all the costs
would have been allocated to native load customers.
Based on what we just discussed, if the units are

running and --

Q. - Well --
A. -- whether it's Big Sandy 1, 2, Mitchell, and
to cover —-- and if, for instance, you know, to cover

the load, all the no—loéd costs would be assigned to
the internal load, to the internal customers.
Q. So your answer is yes. My question was: For
the four months of January through April, did
Kentucky Power allocate to native load customers any

no-load fuel costs for Big Sandy 2 for --

A. I'm sorry. But you're -- you're correct. It
is yes.

Q. -—- hours --

A. I'm sorry. I thought did not.

Q. Okay.
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A. But yes.

0. All right.

A. The answer is yes.

0. It did. Okay.

A. I apologize.

Q. All right. Thank you. Mr. Kurtz asked you

if you thought it was fair for native load customers
to be charged fuel césts that wére 50 percent higher
than the fuel costs charged to off-system sales, and
your response was yves because of the context whereby
Kentucky Power is only being able to recover 44
million of the cost of Mitchell Units 1 and 2?2 Is

that a fair representation of what your response

was?

A. I don't think so. And if -- let me try to
fully explain. If that's -~ the facf that the --
due to the -- all the parameters, all the paragraphs

in the stipulation and settlement agreement, you
know, from the -- from the additional opportunity
for off-system sales to only $44 million through the
ATR, right, when you take all the aspects of what
was happening and the idea of the additional 1load,
the Company did not change any part of their
processes in the allocation of load.

We allocated no-load costs up to minimum to
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internal load, native load customers before
January 1lst, 2014. We did that prior to Jjoining
PJM. All right. We did not change anything in
relationship to that.

So when you then make the calculations as
they -- as they fall out, having additional 1load,
having the idea of all the units running and not
chanjing the methodology, the idea that the
calculation shows higher -- higher fuel costs to the
internal load, all right, it is fair and reasonable
based on everything that happened in the settlement
and stipulation agreement. Does that help?

Q. Well, let me ask this: If Kentucky Power had
been recovering 100 percent of the cost of Mitchell,
the two Mitchell units, for January through April of
2014, do you still think it would have been fair for
your native load customers to have paid all of the
no-load costs for Mitchell and Big Sandy, and the
result being native load customers paying for fuel
costs almost 50 percent higher than what is charged
to off-system sale customers?

A. Well, in that assumption, you know, we would
not, I'm sure, have been given the opportunity

100 percent of the sales margins above the

$15.3 million, because we would have recovered all
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of Mitchell through base rates.

And, however, during that interim time,
again, not anticipating, but, you know, if we would
have had the polar vortex, there still would have
been an increase in the no-load costs unanticipated,
you know, because we would have -- assuming we would
have still had Mitchell and Big Sandy for that
17-month period, even though all of it was in base
rates, you know, there still would have been an
increase in costs, fuel costs, that would have went
to the native load customers, because that was the
principle by which we've always allocated and we
weren't changing that principle.
Q. So your answer is yes, even i1f you were
recovering 100 percent of the Mitchell costs in base
rates, it would still be fair to charge your native
load customers significantly higher fuel costs than
what would be charged to off-system sales.
A. It would definitely be reasonable based upon
the past practice and not changing to —-- in any way
what we had done in previous; yes, sir.
Q. Okay. Is there a reason why you believe it's
appropriate to charge native load customers for the
no-load fuel costs during those hours where Big

Sandy 2 is not needed for native load, other than
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the fact that that's how you've been doing it for
20 years?

A. Well, and I think Mr. Pearce will be better
to give you, you know, the details of what happens
when we bid in the units. You know, when we bid in
the units each day -- or the day-ahead, I'm sorry,
for the day-ahead, you know, we bid the units in,
PIJM decides whether they are accepted or not
depending on the load, and we'wve heard that
discussions earlier today, and the price. And then
once they are bid in, we still do the economic
dispatch of the highest -- the highest cost goes to
off-system sales, whether that is Big Sandy, whether
that is Mitchell, whether that is Rockport, that
gets still assigned to the highest load -- the
highest cost gets assigned to the off-system sales
and it works its way down.

And a unit is not assigned in any particular
day Jjust to off-system sales or internal. Tt's bid
in, and then we start the top-down approach, if it's
accepted, down.

So to say that, well, you know, Big Sandy,
you know, it -- it's -- again, it's not bid in just
for off-system sales. |

Q. All right. Well, are you saying that if the
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no-load costs were charged to off-system sales, that
the sales would have been made at a loss rather than

at a profit?

A. No, I don't -- I'm not saying that at all
from a -- you know, again, it's how we develop, you
know, the cost for the economic dispatch. If you're

going to assign more cost to off-system sales, all
right, that changes how -- the cost that's bid in,
and, you know, you take the risk of that not being
accepted, not being available, depending on load,
for even off-system sales or it reduces the margins
that you have, and under a 60/40 split, forgetting
the stipulation settlement, you know, 60 percent of
those profits go back to the customer, and so -- and
40 to the -- to the Company.

And so you lose, you know, some of that, and
it is a benefit to both the Company and the
customer, and you lose some of that.

Q. But the customer is paying 100 percent of the
no-load and the Company isn't paying any, correct?
A. I'm sorry, I couldn't hear the rest of that.
Q. The customer is paying 100 percent of the
no-load and the Company is paying none, correct, for
the off-system sales?

A. The customer is assigned 100 percent of the
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no-load. I keep ——-— I don't ~- I'm missing the last

part of your comment, sir.

Q. Well, you referred to the 60/40 split --
A. Yes, sir.
Q. -— and the fact that by being able to

increase sales, it was a benefit to both the
customer and the Company =--

A. Yes.

Q. ~- by being able to make more sales, but with
respect to those sales, the 100 percent of the
no-load costs afe paid for by the customer --

A. By the internal customer.

Q. -—- and none of those are paid for by the
Company, correct?

A. That is correct.

Q. It didn't -- it doesn't come out of the
Company's 60 percent share of the off-system sales,

correct?

A. In the way it's established, in the way it's
set up now, that is correct. Yes, sir.
Q. I seem to have lost my way here.

MR. PINNEY: What are you looking for?
MR. RAFF: I'm looking for the question.
Q. Could you please refer to page 7 and 8 of

your rebuttal testimony?
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A. I'm there, sir.
Q. Beginning at the bottom of -- if I can find
it. Beginning at the bottom of page 7, could you
read, starting at line 22, over through just the end
of that sentence?
A. Yes, sir. (Reading) Paragraph 1 of the
Stipulation and Settlement Agreement only provided
the Company with a partial recoveny -- I'm sorry,
partial recovery, then in parens, 44 million
annually or approximately 40 percent, end parens, of
the estimated costs associated with Kentucky Power's
50 percent undivided interest in the Mitchell
generation -- generating station.
Q. Okay. Would you also refer to Kentucky
Power's response to the Commission Staff's third
request for information, Item 9, Attachment 1, page
1?7 The top of the last column shows that the cést
of the service impact for the Mitchell transaction
after retirement of Big Sandy 2 was 81.244 million;
is that correct?

THE WITNESS: Mark, I still don't have that
copy. I'm sorry.

MR. GISH: It's KIUC Number 8.

THE WITNESS: Okay. Hold on.

A. And what was the number you were asking me to
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look at?

Q. Oh, then =-- yes. 81.244 million.

A. Yes. 81.244 million. Yes, sir.

Q. Would you be able to provide a schedule for

each month of 2014 through the most current month
that data is available which shows by month the

60 percent portion of off-system sales margins that
customers would have received under the 60/40 split
but for the settlement agreement and the fact that
the Company.is retaining that 60 percent, and
showing separately the bill credits that Kentucky
retail customers would have received under the
environmental surcharge if the surcharge had not
been reset to zero in the Mitchell settlement
agreement, and the amount associated with the asset
transfer rider that retail ratepayers are currently
paying for the Mitchell Units 1 and 27

A. Let me summarize, if I could, Jjust to make
sure I understood what you're asking for, is that
starting with January, to provide a calculation of
what the -- starting with what you said the
off-system sales tracker would have been with a
60/40 split as -~

Q. Yes.

A. Okay. And then a calculation of the

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

95

environmental surcharge, what it actually would have

been not being -- had we not been to zero --
Q. Zero.
A. -- which I think is actually filed each month

as a number, but we can provide it as part of this.
And then T wasn't sure I understood the last.
Q. The monthly amount that is recovered through

the asset transfer rider.

A. The ATR? Yes.
0. Yes.
A. So you want that from January through the

most recent --

0. Whatever the most recent month available,
yes.

A. We can do that.

Q. Thank you. All right. Also in your rebuttal

testimony at page 11, beginning at line 6.

A. Yes, sir.
Q. Could you read that paragraph, please?
A. Yes, sir. (Reading) If Mr. Kollen's no-load

cost allocation method were used, the Company's test
year off-system sales margin would have been lower.
As a result of the 0SS margin credit against base
rates -- I'm sorry. As‘a result, the 0SS margin

credit against base rates would have been lower.

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

96

The lower 0SS margin credit would have tequired the
amount recoverable through base rates to increase
for the Company to meet its Commission-approved
revenue requirement. Because they are interrelated
methods for the Company to meet its Commission-
approved revenue requirement, any decrease in the
0SS margin credited against base rates must be
balanced by a corresponding increase in the amount
of recbverable through basé rates. Mr. Kollen's
approach ignores this fundamental concept and must
therefore be rejected.

Q. What you're referring to in this paragraph is
how revenue requireménts are determined in a base
rate case; 1s that correct?

A. That is correct, sir.

Q. Okay. And in Kentucky Power's last base rate
case, a 60/40 sharing for off-system sales margin
was established, correct?

A. That is correct.

Q. And that 60/40 sharing is no longer in effect
temporarily?

A. Temporarily; that is correct.

0. Okay. And that change occurred outside of a
base rate case, did it not?

A. It did.
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Q. So is it your testimony that it's acceptable
to change the off-system sharing mechanism outside
of a base rate case, but the fuel allocation
methodology shouldn't be changed outside of a base
rate case?

A. What we're saying is i1f you change the fuel
allocation process outside of a base rate case, that
it has an impact on the off-system sales mafgins
that you wouldAcollect, and but‘—— what was in the
base, and therefore you end up with a mismatch or,
you know, tracked cost of those -- the inequity
between how your base was -- your off-system sales
base was established and what is being collected.
Q. Are you aware of the Commission's fuel
adjustment clause regulation which is set forth in
807 KAR 5:0567?

A. I'm aware; yes, Sir.

Q. Okay. Will you accept, subject to check,

that in that regulation, Section 1, Paragraph 11

" states as follows: "At six-month intervals, the

commission will conduct public hearings on a
utility's past fuel adjustments. The commission
will order a utility to charge off and amortize, by
means of a temporary decrease of rates, any

adjustments it finds unjustified due to improper
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calculation or application of the charge or improper
fuel procurement practices.”

Tf the Commission were to determine -- and
now this is the question. If the Commission were to
determine that Kentucky Power has erroneously
allocated a portion of its fuel costs under the FAC
for the period under review in this case, 1is 1t your
testimony that the Commission should ignore the.
provision of the FAC régulafion that4Says ratés
should be decreased if there is an improper
calculation or application of the fuel adjustment
clause?

A. Not at all. All that we're stating is that
if you're going to make an adjustment of
disallowance or whatever it might be because that
change in the fuel, in the -- in the allocation
change to off-system sales has another impact, that
in order to match everything up that it be at the
same time as a base rate case.

Not -- we're not saying that you don't, you
know, have the ability to make that change, just
understanding that it creates a mismatch.

Q. Okay. Well, the Company doesn't currently
have a base rate case pending here, does 1it?

A. It is going to file notice of one Friday.
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A. End of December.

Q. -— 1in December?

A. And with the -- you know, the idea of the
five-month extent -- or extension, I forget the

time, it would be basically rates would go into
effect roughly July 1st of 2015.

Q. Okay. And the case of -- rate case will be
filed using a historic test year?

A. An historic test year of September 30th,
2014, 12 months into September 30th, 2014.

Q. Okay. So, you know, I'm trying to kind of
understand your prior answer about wanting the
Commission to -- if we —-- if we were to determine

that there was some erroneous calculation or

99

application of the FAC, to recognize some kind of an

offset, if you will, or a counter-adjustment in a
base rate case, what we're talking about here are
costs from January through April of 2014, and 1if
there was a determination that there was some
erroneous calculation of those costs, are you
suggesting that in the -- in your next base rate
case that there would be some way to offset the
erroneous charges from January through April of

20147
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A. I think what we're saying, sir, is that if
you were to -- if we were to calculate whatever the
amount would be that the Commission. felt was
misallocated, whatever that might be, is that in
order to try to be -- to, as neatly as possible,
time everything up, that amount could be adjusted
even still through the fuel adjustment clause
application, be -- but be made as a one-time
adjustment in, let's say, July of 2015. I'm not
sure what the proper time would be, but you could
make that adjustment as a one-time adjustment in
sequence with when base rates are is all that we're
making the statement of.

Q. Okay. I'm still not exactly clear, but let
me -- are you suggesting that if the Commission were
to determine that there had been an erroneous
calculation of the FAC, that rather than issuing an
order within the next six to eight months, that the
Commission hold up that order until such time as it
issues an order in your to-be-filed base rate case
so that any reduction or credits that had to be paid
under your FAC would seem to be -- maybe not exactly
offset, but the total revenues that the Company --
it would just reduce, on a one-time basis, the

additional revenues that the Company would receive
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from the base rate increase?

A. Basically, yes, sir, because -- again, it's
because the 15.3 million that's in base rates was
based on that allocation method, and, you know,
trying to make all the adjustments outside, it was
trying to synchronize them all up, is going to
create some costs, and that -- what you Jjust said I
think is proper.

Q. Okay. In your rebuttal testimony at page 13,
the table which shows the return on equity, would
you be able to provide the supporting calculationé

for the return on equity amounts that are shown for

the years 2010 through 201472

A. Absolutely.

Q. Page 17 of your rebuttal testimony, beginning
at line 12, where you say that "not aware of any FAC
proceeding where an adjustment (credit or charge)
has ever included interest at any rate," would you
accept, subject to check, that the Commission did
order Big Rivers to pay interest on disallowed fuel
costs in PSC Case 1990-360-C?

A. Subject to check; yes, sir.

Q. Okay. Based on your -- on the question and
your response to the prior question, would it be

safe to assume that if the Commission were to find
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that some fuel costs were improperly calculated or
allocated and costs were disallowed, that it's the
Company's position that it would prefer to record it
on its books in 2015 rather than 20147
A. Yes.
Q. Okay.

MR. RAFF: Did we skip Number 77

MS. WHELAN: Yeah.
A. Let me just expound a little bit in thinking
about that. I mean, if -- from a -- from an
accounting perspective, you know, we would always
much rather incur the costs in the -- in the year
that -- match it up with when it occurred.

So if the Commission were to rule that, you
know, there was going to be that disallowance or a
change in that, what we would do, when we know that
that was coming in, we would probably book a

deferral of that in 2014 to match it up and then

reverse that when it actually took place. It —--
Q. And what would be the --
A. Now, if we did -- if we didn't know -- if

there wasn't an order out byAthe time we closed our
books in December, you know, it would get booked in
2015, but, you know, from a -- from an accounting

perspective, you know, the idea is to match up, you
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know, the costs with when they incurred, and that
would be in 2014.

Q. So you're saying that if you do not have a
definitive decision from the Commission by
December 31, 2014, that you would close your books
and any subsequent decision that might affect the

fuel costs would be booked in 2015 --

A. Yeah. It's --

Q. -- or 1is there a --

A. No, that's a good -—-

Q. -- point in time within 2015 that if the

Commission issued an order, that you would still
reflect it on your 2014 books?

A. Up until approximately -- I don't know the
exact date, but approximately'the third week of
January, 1f we knew something up to that point in
time, we would still book it as of 2014 'cause the
books -- we normally close around the seventh or
eighth workday of any month. December being the end
of the year, we have an extended period of time, so
approximately the third week of January.

Q. And at page 6 of your rebuttal testimony,
beginning at line 19, could you read that sentence,
please?

A. That starts with "Had the Company"?
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Q. "Had the Company's."

A. Okay. "Had the Company's service territory
experienced weather during the winter of 2014
similar to that experienced during the winter of
2013, the demand for the Company's energy would not
have been nearly as high as was experienced during
the winter of 2014 and the no load costs would have
been lower."”

0. By that statement do you mean that either Big
Sandy Unit 2 or one of the Mitchell units would not
have operated if the winter of 2014 was similar to
the winter of 20137

A. Some of the units would not have. And again,
you get your units and you -- whatever's available,
you bid them in, but if there's not a supply, you
know, for that, and so then they get denied based on
the highest price, so it is possible that many of
the units would not have been accepted into the --
to the bid that day.

Q. But the units would have run to make

off-system sales 1f they were --

A. Only if there's --
Q. -- the price was accepted.
A. Only if there's a market. I mean, that's

what I'm saying, with the mild weather of 2013,
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there wasn't a market, so you can't run them if
there's nothing to -- no one to sell them to.
Q. Do you know whether there was a market in the
winter of 2013 for off-system sales?
A. That's the point, there wasn't much of a
market. I think Mr. Pearce can tell you better
about what the market was, but the market was, there
was not much of an off-system sales market in 2013.

MR. RAFF: Thank you, Mr. Wohnhas. I have no
further questions.

THE WITNESS: Thank you, sir.

VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: We'll take a short
break, we'll come back at ten after 5:00.

MR. OVERSTREET: Thank you.

(Recess from 5:00 p.m. to 5:12 p.m.)

VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: Have a seat. You are
still under oath, Mr. Wohnhas.

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir.

FURTHER CROSS-EXAMINATION

By Mr. Raff:
Q. Mr. Wohnhas, I have one follow-up, at least
one follow-up. And if you would refer to -- I guess
it was KIUC Exhibit 8, the last page, which was the
revised calculation submitted in this case

reflecting the projected -- I'm sorry. That was
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the -- the original calculation from Case 2012-578
of the increase in cost from January 2014 through
June of 2015 for the middle column, Mitchell
Transfer Overlap Period, and it was originally
projected to be 5.33 percent. And then the KIUC
Exhibit 1, which was the revised calculation that
was submitted in this case, which shows that increase
going from the 5.33 percent to the 12.81 percent.
Do you see‘those two?

A. I do, sir.

Q. And it was my understanding that you said the
increase was a result of the polar vortex and the

no-load costs?

A. No. Well, I mean, the -- we added on an
annual basis $38 million of -- of no-load costs, and
what we said is that for the January -- we're saying

for the January through April time period, the
increase in that no-load cost there was primarily
contributed to the polar vortex.

Q. Okay. Well, how much of the no-load costs
were included in the original calculation leading up
to the 5.33 percent?

A. I don't know. We didn't go back and -- T
don't have that number.

Q. Do you know whether any were included in
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there?
A. Well, it would. We would have had no-load
cost, because there was no-load cost always
during -- you know, in our cost-of service, so I
would have to -- I'd have to go back and see what
that amount is.
0. All right. Could you do that for the -- how
much of the no-load costs were included in the
original exhibit which shows the 5.33 percent
increase and how much were the no-locad costs
included in the revised exhibit showing the
12.81 percent increase?
A. Yes, sir.

MR. RAFF: Thank you. I believe that's all
the guestions we have at this time, Your Honor.

VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: Do you have any
gquestions? Do you have any questions?

EXAMINATION

By Commissioner Breathitt:
0. Mr. Wohnhas, you've testified that this way
of calculating the FAC with no-locad costs has been

used by the Company for 30 years.

A. At least 30 years, yes.
Q. And by the Company, you -- do you mean
Kentucky Power and -- and all of AEP subsidiaries?
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A. Yes, all -- I mean, Kentucky Power, but then
the other subsidiaries -- subsidiaries do the same
methodology.

0. Since you've been with Kentucky Power, have

there been any instances that you recall where
there's been a weather situation or any other type

of situation that caused such a noticeable jump?

A. I mean, not that I'm aware of.
Q. And I might not be artfully asking the
question, but -- so this -- so what I just heard you

say, that this may be the first time this has
ever —-- something like this has ever happened?
A. Well, you also have to realize is that this
is the first time, though, that we have had, you
know, two additional units, you know, the two
Mitchell units, and, you know, those Mitchell units,
you know, not only for the purposes that I've
mentioned, off-system sales, but those units during
this polar vortex were a hedge for Kentucky Power.
In Mr. Pearce's testimony, he showed that
without having Mitchell available during the months
of -- I think it was January through March, that we
would have incurred roughly 9.9 or almost
$10 million in additional costs that customers would

have paid in fuel by having to go out to the market

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22

23
24

25

108

and purchase enerquinstead of having Mitchell. So
that -- having that excess capacity was a hedge
during this polar vortex.

It's also having the ability of these units
availlable is that if a unit goes down. If a unit is
currently being assigned to an off-system sale --
let's say that as you come down —-- just for an
example, let's just say that Bié Sandy 2 is
curréntly being assigned to an off-system sale based
on the economic diépatch, and let's say that
Mitchell was currently being used to provide the
internal load. If that Mitchell Unit 1 would go
down, then the Big Sandy 2 unit would then
automatically be used -- be available to go to serve
that internal load versus any -- or whatever the
cheapest addi -- supplemental power would be to
serve that.

So that having these units is a hedge
against, you know, things that would happen like
that. So it's -- and that's probably more important
than, quote, the off-system sales.

0. If Kentucky Power had still been in the pool,
is there any way to know what -- no way to know?
You can't put the genie back in the bottle?

A. No, you can't -- that's -- that's correct.
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COMMISSIONER BREATHITT: I think that's it.
Thank vyou.
EXAMINATION

By Vice-~Chair Gardner:

0. Good afternoon Mr. Wohnhas.
A. Good afternoon.
Q. First, KIUC Exhibit 4, which is the no-load

costs, November 12 through April 14, did you-all
compile that, those numbers?
A. I didn't number mine. Which one is Number 47?

MS. HARWARD: That's okay.

A. Yes, this one here. Yes, we provided -—--

0. Okay.

A. —— those numbers.

Q. I'd 1like you-all to, in a post-hearing data
request, update that to now or as -- what the

current information is.

“A. Sure.
0. By month. Just same format, exactly the
same.
Now, let me go back to the -- to the

stipulation and the hearing that we had with respect
to -—= I'11l just call it the Mitchell case, which is
I guess 2012-578. And in that case we started the

hearing and then there was a break and then we came

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

111

back, and in the meantime the stipulation -- there
was -- there was thinking at the time the case
started that there was going to be a stipulation,

and then there was a break and then we came back

later for the hearing on the stipulation. Is

that -- is my memory correct on that?

A. I know that we provided a draft of a
stipulation, I believe it was on July 2nd or -- I'm
just not sure of the dates. That was whatever.

Q. Okay.

A. But then we continued with the hearing.

Q. Okay.

A. I just don't remember the actual chronology.
Q. The -- do you remember when, at a hearing,
and I belileve it was early -- it was in this case
when it first started, that a -- the fifth set of

data requests was actually asked, which was to
prepare the chart that we've been referring to,

which shows the fact --

A. Five-ten?

Q. Pardon me?

A. Five-ten?

Q. Yeah, yeah, vyeah. So you're -- you're -- you

recall that?

A. Yes, sir.
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Q. Subject to check, this was filed on the same
day that the -- and I could be wrong, as the
stipulation was filed? 1Is that possible? This says
June 26 is when this was --

A. That was the order dated June 26, which -- it

could have been real close to that date.

Q. Okay.

A. Normally we have ten days or so, so --

Q. All right. In any event, this -- you're
aware, aren't you, that this stipulate -- this data

request was important to the Commission?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Okay. And, in fact, it was actually -- the
number, the 5.33 percent, was actually mentioned in
the order approving the stipulation. That wouldn't
surprise you, would it?

A. Not at all.

Q. Okay. Now, did I understand you to say that

basically from the Company's perspective, this is

fair because you-all were giving -- you-all were
giving up roughly, you know, the -- you know, 138 to
44 million, you -- 44 million, you were giving up a

lot of potential revenue that you would otherwise be
entitled to if it were not for the stipulation?

A. Yes, because part of that stipulation, as you
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recall, was that we pulled the base rate case, all
right, and basically now we're going to file it
coming up, but that was part of that give was

pulling that rate case --

Q. And --
A. -- to get the full recovery of Mitchell.
Q. And so you —-- so 1it's -- so this is fair, and

that makes it seem as 1f at the time you-all knew
that this -- that there would be no-load costs on
these off-system sales where the Company got 100
percent of it above the 15 million, that there would
be -- it makes it seem like you-all are aware --
were aware at the time that there would be no-load
costs, because it's something that had happened all
along.

A. I'm may -- let me -- I'm not sure I
understand exactly what you're saying, but you're
right, no-load costs has always been assigned to
internal.

Q. And the Company knew about the concept of

no-load costs at the time of the --

A. We knew of -~

Q. -- at the time of the --
A. Sure.

Q. -- stipulation?
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A. We knew of the concept of no-load costs, but
was under -- and looking at, you know, what we
thought was going to happen, did not see that those
in total no-lcad costs would change.

Q. Okay. And -- but you knew that -- although
you were getting 100 percent of the profits, you
knew that the no -- because -- and you had all these
extra -- you had two more units, you had the 800
megawatts of Mitchell to add to the fleet. Even
without the -- even without the polar vortex,
you—-all knew that there were going to be no-load
costs assigned to customers because there would
likely be an increase in off-system sales, because
now you had now Big Sand -- I mean now Kentucky
Power owned an additional 800 megawatts.

A. The part that that -- that I think is
incorrect there is that we did not know that there
would be additional off~system sales. We only put
in the provision for 100 percent of the recovery
over $15 million as just an offset to, again, giving
up 60 percent of Mitchell, and the fact that if
there was an opportunity, we could make that, but we
did not have anything -- and matter of fact, in some
of the data requests that was filed about what we

thought earnings would be and such, and it was under
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confidentiality, but the idea was the only thing
that we made an adjustment for was the idea instead
of getting only 40 percent of what we thought the
current sales level was forecasted, we'd get the
other 60 percent. So we did not anticipate that we
would have additional off-system sales.

Q. Okay.

A. We were just -- that was just a hedge that if
it was there, we could do it.

Q. Okay. And what amount did you figure in as
you budgeted this of off-system sales there would be
at the time? You just said that you didn't --

A. Sure.

0. -— expect it to be as great as it was, so
what amount did you anticipate at the time that the
customers, that the consumers would be responsible
for?

A. We showed an additional $10 million of
margins, which would be picking up the additional

60 percent if the -- if the basically market was the
same as the previous year.

Q. | Okay. So -- and did you -- did -- was that
shown in any of these calculations, that 10 million?
A. No.

Q. Okay. Did -- when did you personally have
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your first discussion about no-load costs? .

A. November of 2013.
Q. Is that the first time you heard of it?
A. It was actually the first time I had heard of

no-load costs.

Q. Okay. And how did you hear about the concept
of no-load costs? |

A. Witness Pearce, as hé, you know, came down to
discuss just as -- with Kentucky Power how -- the
idea of a few minor changes, as he can describe and
was 1in his testimony, were going to happen around
different things that would be included in no-load
costs, and so that was the first time.

Q. Okay. And so then clearly -- if you didn't
know about it until November of '13, then clearly
Commission Staff nor none of the parties would have

heard the concept from you.

A. Not from me.

Q. It's —-

A. And I don't know -- and again, I don't -- not
been able to talk to my predeceséor, but I -- you
know, I don't -- I never remember him discussing it
either, so -- but I don't know if he was ever aware

of that terminology either.

Q. Okay.
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A. You know, there were a handful in Columbus
that dealt with it on a daily basis that, you know,
were aware, but --

Q. So you didn't -- you didn't understand when
you were -- when you signed the -- when you

signed -- when you proffered the‘testimony to accept
the stipulation, you didn't -- at that time you
didn't know about the no-load cost4concept, so there
was no way you could have apprised the Commission,
Commission Staff, or any of the parties about the
risk that 100 percent of the sales -- that there
would be an incentive on you-all, plus you'wve got
Mitchell to run, and that the customers would be
paying a certain level for every dollar that got
sold in off-system sales, 'cause you didn't
understand the risk at that point?

A. We made contacts, you know, as -- again, as
Witness Allen as I ~- and I were in the settlement
discussions, you know, we made contacts as we were
having —-- in the settlement back with folks in
Columbus, but we never got down, the best I know, to

the detail of down that deep about no-locad costs.

0. But 1t wasn't mentioned at all?
A. Not that I'm aware.
Q. Okay. Even in your internal deliberations
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about whether -- how to -- how to negotiate this,

you don't have any recollection of that?

A. I don't -— I don't have any recollection.
Q. And, in fact, it was November that you
realized that that would -- that you heard about the

concept for the first time?
A. And in those discussions there was still no
indication that it would have any effect on anything
that was established through the stipulation and
settlement agreement.

VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: Okay. So -- okay. I
think that's all I have. Thank vyou.

COMMISSIONER BREATHITT: May I -- may I ask
one quick?

VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: Sure.

REEXAMINATION

By Commissioner Breathitt:
0. Mr. Wohnhas, you just testified that you
became familiar with the term no-load in November of
last year?
A. Yes, ma'am.
Q. But the Company has been using the -- this --
the accounting method for 30 years?
A, Yes.

Q. Was 1t just buried deep in the Company?
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A. Yeah, there -- you know, there's not an --
you know, when you think about, you know, fuel is
Account 501 when we talk about fuel. You know,
there's not a separate account number for no-load
costs. There's not -- you know, it's not that --
it's just a part of that fuel cost, and, you know,
we have dispatched under -- I mean, we've allocated
based on the economic dispatch principle long
before‘—— you know, it probably wasn't even called
no-load costs back when it was initially there.

As you've heard this morﬁing, you know, I
think in the LG&E/KU, they have that cost, but they
don't -- and they said they don't use it -- they
don't use the terminology no-load, so --

COMMISSIONER BREATHITT: Thank you.

THE WITNESS: You're welcome.

VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: Mr. Overstreet.

MR. OVERSTREET: Okay. Thank you.

REDIRECT EXAMINATION
By Mr. Overstreet:
0. Mr. Wohnhas, I want to see if I can clarify a
few things and then discuss a few matters with you,
if I might. I think you were asked, and it may have
been -- I think it may have been Mr. Kurtz, about

who dispatches Big Sandy and Mitchell and Rockport
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and the Company's units, and I think you indicated
that that was, quote, Columbus, i.e., AEP; is that
accurate?

A. No. It's -- you know, the people in Columbus
that I referenced to.are the ones that offer those

units into PJM, but PJM actually dispatches the

units.

Q. . Okay.

A. So slight clarification.

Q. And we heard sort of the same sort of thing

from some other PJM utilities earlier today.

A. That's right. You know, our people in
Columbus just offer the available units in each day.
Q. And Mr. Raff was asking you some guestions
about the fact that the sharing mechanism, the
60/40, 60 percent to the Company's customers,

40 percent to the Company, of off-system sales
margins was changed during the -- as a result of the
July 2nd stipulation and settlement agreement. Do
you remember that discussion?

A. I do.

Q. Now, that sharing mechanism only relates to
off-system sales margins above and beyond the

15.3 million that are baked into base rates; isn't

that correct?
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A. The 100 percent?

0. Yes.

A. Yes. That's correct.

Q. Okay. And isn't it true that as part of the

stipulation and settlement agreement, the Company

agreed to withdraw its then pending rate case?

A, That 1s correct.

Q. So this change was made in the context --
even though it wasn't in exactly that case, in the
context of a rate case?

A. Yes, because the rate case was for the
purpose of getting full recovery of Mitchell, and as
part of the settlement, these other changes were
made and we pulled the base rate case.

Q. Okay. And the -- Mr. Raff was asking you
some questions about, I guess for lack of a better
description, you know, timing of any -- of the
accounting effects or the booking of any change that
the Commission might make in connection with this
case, the -- when the Company would like -- you

know, does it basically want to book it in 2014 and

2015. Do you -- do you remember that discussion?
A. I do remember that discussion, yes.
Q. Okay. Now, does the Company believe that its

allocation of no-load costs in the manner that it
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has done during this review period is incorrect or
serves as a basis for the Commission to make such a
disallowance, if you will?

A. Absolutely not. I mean, we -- I would still
hold that, you know, because of the stipulation and
settlement agreement and all the parameters of that,
you know, that there should be no changes prior to
July 1lst, 2015.

Q. And so your discussion with Mr. Raff about
when and whatnot, were you referring to the -- any
sort of charge in connection with that or were you

talking about the change in the methodology for

allocation?
A. The change in the methodology.
0. Okay. Now, Mr. Wohnhas, I think you've

testified on several occasions here this afternoon
that to your knowledge the Company's been allocating
no-load cost -- no-load costs in this fashion for
approximately 30 years, if not longer.

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Okay. And did the Company believe that that
allocation was fair, just, and reasonable ten years
ago when it was doing it?

A. Absolutely.

0. And so that allocation and the fairness of
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that allocation has nothing -- it wasn't changed by
the fact that there was a July 2nd stipulation and
settlement agreement; is that true?

A. Not at all.

0. Okay. And in talking in terms of whether the
allocation is fair or not, and I understand Mr.
Pearce will discuss some —-- maybe some more the
intricacies of the allocation, but is it fair --

well, strike that.

What do the customers get for the fact -- by
paying these no-load costs -- no-load costs?
A. Well, they get a number of things. You know,

one, they get a reliable unit that's going to be
around for 25 years. All right. Big Sandy 2 is
going to go away and so we're going to have that
unit.

Two, during this time that they're there,
those units are a hedge as to events such as a polar
vortex. And having Mitchell on there, as Mr. Pearce
will describe, they saved the comp -- the customers
about $10 million.

As I stated before, it's a hedge on the fact
that if you have units and you -- and it happens, as
units go down during the day for, you know, a forced

outage due to a tube leak, all right, that might
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happen, and so now it's down, you know, you have
those other units that then are taken -- 1if they're
least cost, then taken and provided to your internal
customers versus the off-system sales.

Kind of went blank from that point on. I'm
SOrry.
Q. That's fine. So the no-load costs give the
customers the first éall on the Company's generating

facilities?

A. Absolutely.

Q. And this acts as sort of like an insurance
policy?

A. It does. It's a hedge, vyes.

Q. And in the first four months of 2014, Mr. --
is it -- is- it your understanding of Mr. Pearce's
testimony that the -- that notwithstanding the

additional no-load costs that were incurred
following the Mitchell transfer and as a result of
the polar vortex, the Company is $9.9 million better

off than if it didn't have Mitchell and had to go to

market?
A. Yes.
Q. Okay. I'm sorry. Let me strike that.

That the customers are $9.9 million better

off?
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A. Yes. Yeah, customers are. Yes.

Q. Okay. And Mr. Kurtz was talking about the
Company's increase in off-system sales margins
following the Mitchell transfer. Do you remember
that discussion you had with him?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did anything else increase effective

January 1, 20147

A. Yes. You know, we had the -- you know,
again, the equity of Mitchell being added to our
base as being an operating company was —- you know,
and the costs associated with those was incurred by

the Company.

0. So these margins went up, but also the
Company's -- the amount of equity --

A. Equity balance went up, yes.

Q. And so the Company's return on equity was
affected?

A. Yes, it was.

MR. OVERSTREET: I think that's all I have.
Thanks, Mr. Wohnhas.

VICE-CHAIR GARDNER: Mr. Kurtz.

MR. KURTZ: No questions, Your Honor.

MR. COOK: I have a few questions.
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RECROSS-EXAMINATION
By Mr. Cook:
Q. Mr. Wohnhas, I believe you said earlier that
there's a handful in Columbus who were aware of the
concept of no-load costs, correct?
A. Yes, I did.
Q. Okay. Kentucky Power is an independent

company, 1is it not, corporation?

A. I mean, yes, we're part of --

Q. Incorporated in the state of Kentucky?

A. That's right. But we're part --

Q. Yes.

A. -- of the -- the AEP system.

Q. Right. Okay. And this handful of people in

Columbus, Ohio, who were aware of this concept, do

they work for the Serv. Co.?

A. They are -- they are an AEPSC employee, but
they commun -- we communicate with them regularly
with all types of -~ whether it's that group or

another group.

Q. Exactly.
A. Yeah, we do --
Q. And isn't it true that Kentucky Power relies

to a very great degree on the judgment, expertise,

and experience of Serv. Co. employees?
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A. Employees within that department, employees
at -- 1in.accounting, employees in tax. We do not
have all those employees sitting here under Kentucky

Power, so yes, we do --

Q. Exactly.
A. -~ rely on them.
Q. Exactly. And this handful of employees in

Columbus, did any of them testify in this case?

A. Yes. One of them is Mr. Kelly feafce.

Q. All right. Is the Company obligated by
Kentucky law to provide electric service to its
native load ratepayers?

A. I'm sorry. I didn't quite catch that
question.

Q. Is Kentucky Power obligated by Kentucky law
to provide electric serv;ce to its native load
ratepayers?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And in the event the Commission should
agree with the KIUC and AG recommendation, would you
agree that an interest penalty should be assessed in

addition to that?

A. No, I do not.
Q. And why is that?
A. Again, subject to check on what Mr. Raff said
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is maybe a 1990 case, it's not been something that
has ever been done as a precedent.
Q. Uh-huh. Would Mr. McKenzie have known about

no-load costs?

A. Who?

Q. Mr. McKenzie. I'm sorry. Munczinski? Am

T ——

A. Oh, Mr. Munczinski;, I'm sorry.

Q. I apologize for not pronouncing it --

A. That's okay. You mean prior to this --

Q. Yes.

A. -- to this thing? I believe he was. All
right. I can't -- I can't answer definitively.

Q. Now, Kentucky Power filed a rate case that I

believe under redirect from your attorney you just
discussed, and that was withdrawn under the terms of
the settlement, correct?

A. That is correct, sir.

Q. Okay. Wasn't the filing of that case for the
purpose of prodding the parties to settle?

A. No. Not at all. It was for the purpose

of -- our idea going in was that we wanted 100
percent of Mitchell, and so in order to get that, we
had to file that rate case, even though the

transact -- the 578 was going on, I mean, our
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